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Preliminary FY 2024 results and first quarter trading statement

 

 

A transformative year, marked by further strategic progress  and operational  res i l ience and balance sheet deleveraging

 

 

Key headlines:

 

·     	FY 2024 pre-demerger revenue £1,880.2m (+1.1% YoY)

 

·     	FY 2024 adjusted EBITDA in-line with guidance and consensus

 

·     	Group continuing Q1 2025 revenue of £371.4m (-6.1% CCY), like-for-like revenue c.-3%. A return to growth in THG

Nutrition supporting full year guidance

 

·     	THG Ingenuity demerger completed, FTSE 250 index constituent, long term capital structure refinanced to December

2029

 

·     	FY 2025 guidance unchanged

 

 

TH G P LC ("TH G" or the "Group"), announces  i ts  prel iminary results  for the financial  year ended 31 December 2024 ("F Y

2024") and fi rst quarter trading statement for the period ended 31 March 2025 ("Q1 2025").

 

Q1 2025 Group trading performance

 

£m Q1
2025

CCY[[1]]

change
YoY[[2]]

Change
THG Be a uty 223.6 -9.8% -10.0%
THG Nutri ti on 147.8 +0.1% -2.0%

Group (continuing) revenue 371.4 -6.1%[[3]] -7.0%

Di s conti nue d re ve nue 4.2 -79.9% -79.9%
Tota l  re ve nue 375.6 -8.0% -10.6%

 

 
Matthew Moulding, CEO of THG commented:
"2024 was a big year of change and evolu;on for TH G, the highlight of which was the demerger of the Group's technology
division, TH G Ingenuity at the end of the year. Following on from the demerger, we immediately undertook the early refinancing
of the Group's debt, reducing gearing and pu>ng in place long-term facili;es to the end of 2029, alongside entering the F TS E
250.
 
"We are now fully focused on TH G Beauty and TH G Nutri;on, and I'm incredibly proud of the progress each business has made.
Following extensive efficiency drives, incorpora;ng both automa;on and A I, TH G has become a much leaner, fiAer Group that
has shown strong resilience in the face of record whey commodity pricing that placed temporary pressure on Nutri;on margins.
A  strong performance across our Beauty business, delivering ahead of its medium-term adjusted EB ITDA  margin target, helped
the Group to deliver a pre-demerger adjusted EBITDA margin ahead of 2023 despite the transitory headwinds in Nutrition.
 
"Both our businesses have undertaken extensive model changes over the past 24 months. Beauty has focused on more
profitable markets and building loyalty schemes, while Myprotein has pressed ahead in undertaking a successful rebrand,
underpinning rapid growth across global offline retail and licensing.
 
"In the first quarter of this year, TH G Beauty was up against a compara;ve period including an early Easter which is a key
trading event, and an extra day's trading. However, in its home UK  and US markets, Beauty retail is trading resiliently, with a



trading event, and an extra day's trading. However, in its home UK  and US markets, Beauty retail is trading resiliently, with a
strong selec;on of new brand launches planned throughout the year. It's also been especially pleasing to see Nutri;on
momentum improving throughout the quarter with February and March back in growth.
 
"W ith a capex light and efficient cost base, we are well posi;oned to return to sustainable growth and cash genera;on, whilst
developing market share."
 
 
 
FY 2024 Group trading performance

£m FY
2024

FY
2023

YoY
Growth

CCY
Change

THG Beauty 1,108.5 1,073.3 +3.3% +4.6%
THG Nutri tion 579.8 657.9 -11.9% -8.7%
Post-demerger revenue 1,688.3 1,731.2 -2.5% -0.4%
THG Ingenuity (external ) 191.9 165.5 +16.0% +16.4%
Pre-demerger revenue 1,880.2 1,896.7 -0.9% +1.1%
Discontinued categories  revenue 63.1 148.6 -57.5% -56.8%
Total  revenue 1,943.3 2,045.4 -5.0% -3.1%

Post-demerger adjusted EBITDA[[4]] 92.1 111.3 -17.2%  
Post-demerger adjusted EBITDA % 5.5% 6.4% -90bps

Adjusted EBITDA - THG Ingenuity 31.0 11.0 +182.4%

Pre-demerger adjusted EBITDA[[5]] 123.1 122.3 +0.7%
Pre-demerger adjusted EBITDA % 6.5% 6.4% +10bps

Adjusted EBITDA from discontinued categories (8.7) (8.2) -6.9%
Adjusted EBITDA 114.4 114.1 +0.3%
Adjusted EBITDA % 5.9% 5.6% 30bps
Adjusted i tems - cash 24.6 10.4 -136.5%
Adjusted i tems - non-cash 99.9 21.2 -371.2%
Operating loss (147.9) (39.2) -277.3%

Net debt (215.3)[[6]] (218.2)   

 
A ll compara;ve figures are con;nuing C C Y unless otherwise stated, all numbers and tables subject to rounding. Post-demerger
and pre-demerger definitions are included within the Chief Financial Officer's Review.
 
FY 2025 outlook and guidance
 

·      Fol lowing the completion of the demerger of THG Ingenuity, THG is  a  global , cash generative, health and wel lness
consumer brands group compris ing THG Beauty and THG Nutri tion.

·    We maintain our Group revenue growth expectaBons of mid-s ingle digi t for the year, given conBnued confidence in

underlying trading and prestige beauty demand across  our home markets .

 

·    TH G NutriBon sales  are back in growth in Q 1 2025 underpinned by February and March performance. O ffline

through retai l  and l icens ing is  del ivering another very strong performance, bui lding upon the excel lent prior year

in this  channel . Furthermore, the onl ine channel  conBnues to be encouraging, with a  return to growth in UK

customers  (+5%), and average sel l ing prices 	("ASPs")	recovering to pre-rebrand levels .

 

·     The development and success  of the omnichannel  strategy has  placed record numbers  of Myprotein products  in

customers  hands during the quarter, del ivering wider brand awareness  with 	Myprotein the most 'top-of-mind'

sports  nutriBon brand (YouGov) in the UK[[7]]. Notably, the offline product ranges  have a much-reduced exposure

to whey, supporting revenue and margin opportunities .

 

·   As anBcipated, new global  volumes of high-concentrate whey protein entered the market during the first quarter,

supporBng a more normal ised commodity market outlook. A pos iBve impact to margins  is  expected in H2 2025

and beyond.

 

·     We conBnue to monitor the changes  to US trade pol icy and reciprocal  acBons. W hi lst our exposure to tariffs

across  the Group is  expected to be less  than £1.0m pre miBgaBng acBons, market uncertainty and the impact on

consumer demand factors  may influence the second hal f of the year.

 

·   The impact of naBonal  insurance and minimum wage increases  wi l l  be offset by in-year savings  and further

opportunities  for operational  efficiencies  presented by the demerger.

 

·     	As previous ly indicated, capital  expenditure wi l l  reduce to c.£20m p.a., with cash lease payments  reducing to c.

£22m pa. Cash adjusBng i tems wi l l  be temporari ly elevated at c.£15m incorporaBng costs  relaBng to the



demerger.

 

·    O ver the medium term, revenue growth of mid to high-s ingle digi t i s  anBcipated, with Group adjusted EB I TDA

margins  progress ing to historical  levels  of c.9.0%.
 

 
FY 2024 segmental summary          
 

£m THG
Beauty

THG
Nutrition Central Post-

demerger

Tota l  re ve nue 1,108.5 579.8 - 1,688.3
Adjus te d EBITDA 79.8 34.5 (22.2) 92.1
Adjus te d EBITDA
ma rgi n 7.2% 6.0% - 5.5%

 
 
FY 2023 segmental summary
 

£m THG
Beauty

THG
Nutrition Central Post-

demerger

Tota l  re ve nue 1,073.3 657.9 - 1,731.2
Adjus te d EBITDA 44.1 88.9 (21.8) 111.3
Adjus te d EBITDA
ma rgi n 4.1% 13.5% - 6.4%

 
 
FY 2024 financial highlights
 

·   Post-demerger Group revenue of £1,688.3m[[8]], represenBng a reducBon of 0.4%. The result was  driven by a  strong
revenue performance within TH G Beauty of +4.6%, offseJng a decrease in TH G NutriBon of -8.7%. The decrease in
TH G NutriBon was primari ly due to a  one-off reducBon in AS Ps, driven by elevated onl ine promoBonal  acBvity to
clear legacy branded stock during the rebrand.
 

·      THG Beauty
 

o  TH G Beauty del ivered on strategy with revenue growth in home markets  (UK  and US) and margin accreBon
which contributed to a  310bps improvement in adjusted EB I TDA margin to 7.2%, an over achievement of
our medium-term EBITDA guidance of >.6.0%.

 
o  Fol lowing a further strategic review in the year to exi t loss  making disconBnued categories , within own

brand beauty, the decis ion was a lso taken to withdraw from cosmeBcs  and massBge to focus  on growth
opportuniBes  in presBge skincare, spa and special is t products . Subsequently, TH G Beauty saw a strong
retai l  and own brand performance throughout the year with the strategic pivot towards  higher-margin
sales  now complete.

 
·      THG Nutrition

 
o  TH G NutriBon has  effecBvely expanded i ts  omnichannel  approach, leveraging reach from i ts  rebrand to

target both onl ine and offline channels , enabl ing more customers  to buy Myprotein products  than ever
before.
 

o  Revenue decl ine was driven by onl ine only, with offline B2B retai l  and l icens ing growth key to growing the
total  customer base with products  avai lable in over 20,000 retai l  s tores  global ly.

 
o  Through the rebrand and the omnichannel  strategy, Myprotein now addresses  a  much wider consumer

audience than ever before, including across  the food-to-go (convenience), dairy, frozen food, caffeine and
baked goods sectors , through both i ts  own product and l icens ing partners  such as  Müller, I celand,
Jimmy's  Coffee and Bakeaway. Category leading brands partner uniquely with Myprotein due to i ts  global
reach.
 

o  Chal lenges  in the As ia  market relaBng to FX  movements  conBnued to weigh on trading performance. To
defend margins , promotional  activi ty was  reduced whi lst currency movements  and high commodity prices
stabi l i se. Growth excluding As ia  on a 3 year bas is  was  res i l ient at +17.4%.
 

o  Adjusted EB I TDA margin decreased to 6.0% (F Y 2023: 13.5%) principal ly as  a  result of the chal lenging sales
performance, compounded by FX and the record high input whey prices .

 
·   Adjusted distribuBon costs  as  a  percentage of revenue conBnued to decrease to 12.8% (-150bps) driven by basket

economics  and terri tory mix (higher UK  parBcipaBon), warehouse operaBonal  efficiencies  and an increase in
offl ine revenues.
 

·    I ncreased administraBve costs  as  a  percentage of revenue reflects  the investment in markeBng throughout the year
offseJng a managed reducBon in salary and overhead costs . The Group conBnues to develop and deploy
learnings  from an evolved markeBng measurement framework including media mix model l ing and brand tracking,
which focuses  on the short and long term effects  of pricing, promoBon and markeBng investment. This  strategy is
enabl ing the Group to balance investment with our longer term goals  of sustainable revenue and acBve customer
growth, a longs ide brand awareness .
 

·   The Group recorded an adjusted EB I TDA of £92.1m (F Y 2023: £111.3m), or £123.1m on a conBnuing bas is  pre the
demerger of THG Ingenuity (FY 2023: £122.3m) with margins  of 5.5% and 6.5% respectively.
 



 
·    Group operaBng loss  of £147.9m (F Y 2023: £39.2m), including the impact of non-cash adjusBng i tems total l ing

£99.9m (F Y 2023: £21.2m). These i tems are one-off, non-cash in nature with losses  on disposal  of disconBnued
categories  including impairment of associated assets  and onerous  contracts .
 

·    Post-demerger capital  expenditure was £21.1m (pre-demerger £101.3m) and finance cost and lease repayments
were £57.4m (pre-demerger £83.2m) leading to neutral  free cash generation (£0.4m).
 

·     W ith the support of our banking partners , in March 2025 we secured long-term debt faci l iBes  including a  €445m
Term Loan B and £150m undrawn RCF unti l  December 2029 and May 2029 respectively.

 
 
Q1 2025 Group trading performance
 

·    ConBnuing revenue of £371.4m (-6.1%) with chal lenging comps in TH G Beauty and a return to growth in TH G
Nutri tion. The impact of an extra days  trading in the prior period, Easter Bming and terri tory pul lback in TH G
Beauty had an approximate impact of c.300bps on Group YoY performance.
 

·   The Group conBnues to focus  on improving the qual i ty rather than absolute number of i ts  acBve customers, and has
tai lored i ts  investment towards  a  more efficient blend of brand, digi ta l  and socia l  markeBng with pos iBve earl ier
indicators  on l i feBme value and brand percepBon. Further increas ing app parBcipaBon is  a  criBcal  part of this
strategy to improve the profitabi l i ty and sustainabi l i ty of the customer base. Q 1 2025 onl ine revenue
participation from apps increased to 34% (Q1 2024: 24%).
 

·    Fol lowing the transfer to the equity shares  (commercial  companies) category in January 2025, TH G P LC was
admitted to the FTSE 250 index in March as  part of the FTSE Russel l  quarterly review.
 

THG Beauty Q1 2025 highlights
 

·    O n a 2 year bas is  TH G Beauty growth was +2.7%, increas ing by a  further c.360bps on an adjusted bas is  when
factoring in the impact of de-prioriBsed European and As ian terri tories , which materia l ly reduced revenue and
active customers.
 

·     Exit momentum is  stronger with UK  retai l  showing month-on-month improvement. Key home markets  (UK  and US)
now account for c.82% (Q 1 2024: c.79%) of onl ine beauty retai l  revenue. We conBnue to monitor the indirect
impact of tari ffs  on US consumers. 
 

·    Retai l  performance has  a lso been impacted by weaker trading across  the industry of several  hugely popular
'trending brands '. We conBnue to refresh the brand curaBon with new launches  including Beauty of Joseon, Fenty
Beauty and Dr Barbara Sturm.
 

·    The LookfantasBc UK  loyalty programme (LF Beauty+) grew further (now over 3.0m members), with loyalty customers
typical ly purchas ing more frequently, with an overal l  higher spend per account (c.+34% vs  non-loyalty in Q 1
2025). Loyalty and customer retenBon is  further supported by a  refined P remier Del ivery service to encourage
spend per account growth. 
 

·   Average order values  and convers ion rates  via  Apps conBnue to increase (vs  other channels). There remains
s ignificant opportuniBes  to enhance spend and acquire new customers  through improved funcBonal i ty to del iver
a highly personal ised experience.
 

THG Nutrition Q1 2025 highlights
 

·     Encouraging start to the year, with month-on-month sales  improvement throughout the quarter. The recovery in
ASPs  to pre rebrand levels  has  been achieved whi lst supporting a  competitive and sustainable pricing structure.
 

·    Momentum demonstrated in categories  outs ide of the core protein range, especial ly in acBvewear, vi tamins, bars
and snacks. Myvitamins.com del ivered a record quarter of growth for 3 years  at +59.2%. Myvitamins  customer
demographics  differ vastly to those of Myprotein with c.79% female, c.68% over the age of 34, and a larger
proportion holding Lookfantastic accounts .

 
·      Global  active customers  stable with the year-end (LTM 6.1m), with UK new customers  in growth (+5%).

 
·   Japan remains  an important region for the bus iness  nonetheless  our abi l i ty to trade to target levels  of revenue and

profitabi l i ty have been constrained in recent years  by the FX  impact on price compeBBveness  and margins . O ur
strategy to market is  being refined to higher-margin channels  and products , which whi lst impacBng growth in the
near-term, should have a more meaningful  contribution to margin recovery.   
 

·   Strong intake in US retai l  orders  with addiBonal  l i sBngs  secured with regional  and naBonal  specia l i ty retai lers
including GNC and Vitamin Shoppe. Total  US doors  presence expected to exceed 6,000 by year end.
 

·   New partnership agreement establ ished in South Korea with S G Safety CorporaBon, a  subs idiary of leading Korean
conglomerate CJ Group, as  part of a  broader, multi -faceted deal . The partnership enables  category coverage across
both offline and new onl ine channels  and wi l l  extend Myprotein into fast moving categories  such as  convenience,
RTD, and meal  replacements .

 
 
Analyst and investor conference call
 
THG wi l l  today host a  conference cal l  and webcast for analysts  and investors  at 9.00am (UK time) via  the fol lowing l inks:
 
To register for the webcast, please use the below l ink:
 
https://stream.brrmedia.co.uk/broadcast/6807b882c26db800122270e6
 
To ask questions, you must dia l  in via  conference l ine us ing the below detai ls :

· UK dia l  in: +44 (0) 33 0551 0200
· Password: THG - FY Results

 

https://stream.brrmedia.co.uk/broadcast/6807b882c26db800122270e6


 
 
 
Enquiries to:

Investor enquiries - THG PLC
 
Kate Grimoldby, Director of Investor Relations  and Strategic
Projects

Investor.Relations@thg.com

 
Media enquiries:
Sodali & Co - Financial PR adviser Tel : +44 (0) 20 7250 1446
Victoria  Palmer-Moore / Russ  Lynch thg@sodal i .com

 
 
THG PLC

 
media-enquiries@thg.com
 

 
 
Notes to editors
 
TH G P LC is  a  global  e-commerce group headquartered in Manchester, UK , operaBng through two leading consumer
businesses: THG Beauty and THG Nutri tion.
 
TH G Beauty operates  prominent onl ine plaYorms including LookfantasBc, Dermstore and Cult Beauty, offering a  valued
route to market for over 1,300 third-party brands, a longs ide a specia l is t portfol io of owned brands.
 
TH G NutriBon, led by Myprotein, the world's  largest onl ine sports  nutriBon brand, spans  mulBple health and wel lness
categories , del ivering i ts  products  both directly to consumers  and through strategic offl ine partnerships  worldwide. 
 
 
Cautionary Statement
 
Certain statements included within this announcement may cons;tute "forward-looking statements" in respect of the group's
opera;ons, performance, prospects and/or financial condi;on. Forward-looking statements are some;mes, but not always,
iden;fied by their use of a date in the future or such words and words of similar meaning as "an;cipates", "aims", "due",
"could", "may", "will", "should", "expects", "believes", "intends", "plans", "poten;al", "targets", "goal" or "es;mates". By their
nature, forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertain;es and assump;ons and actual results or events may
differ materially from those expressed or implied by those statements. A ccordingly, no assurance can be given that any
par;cular expecta;on will be met and reliance should not be placed on any forward-looking statement. A ddi;onally, forward-
looking statements regarding past trends or ac;vi;es should not be taken as a representa;on that such trends or ac;vi;es will
con;nue in the future. No responsibility or obliga;on is accepted to update or revise any forward-looking statement resul;ng
from new informa;on, future events or otherwise. Nothing in this announcement should be construed as a profit forecast. This
announcement does not cons;tute or form part of any offer or invita;on to sell, or any solicita;on of any offer to purchase any
shares or other securi;es in the Company, nor shall it or any part of it or the fact of its distribu;on form the basis of, or be relied
on in connec;on with, any contract or commitment or investment decisions rela;ng thereto, nor does it cons;tute a
recommenda;on regarding the shares or other securi;es of the Company. Past performance cannot be relied upon as a guide to
future performance and persons needing advice should consult an independent financial adviser. Statements in this
announcement reflect the knowledge and information available at the time of its preparation.
 
 
Appendix
 
Quarterly results
 

£m Q1
2023

Q2
2023

Q3
2023

Q4
2023

FY
2023

Q1
2024

Q2
2024

Q3
2024

Q4
2024

FY
2024

Q1
2025

THG Beauty 222.1 254.0 244.1 353.1 1,073.3 248.4 261.3 250.1 348.6 1,108.5 223.6
THG Nutri tion 165.7 171.0 154.8 166.4 657.9 150.8 149.0 134.5 145.4 579.8 147.8
Post-demerger revenue 387.8 425.0 398.9 519.5 1,731.2 399.2 410.4 384.6 494.1 1,688.3 371.4
THG Ingenuity (external ) 38.2 38.5 41.0 47.8 165.5 39.7 46.2 47.1 58.9 191.9 -
Pre-demerger revenue 426.0 463.5 440.0 567.3 1,896.7 438.9 456.6 431.7 552.9 1,880.2 -
Discontinued revenue 43.4 36.4 27.2 41.7 148.6 21.0 17.5 11.1 13.5 63.1 4.2
Total revenue 469.4 499.9 467.2 609.0 2,045.4 459.9 474.0 442.8 566.4 1,943.3 375.6

THG Ingenuity (internal ) 122.3 126.5 117.4 153.6 519.9 112.6 113.0 98.9 138.3 462.9 -
THG Ingenuity (total ) 160.5 165.0 158.5 201.4 685.4 152.3 159.2 146.0 197.3 654.8 -

 
Quarterly results CCY growth
 

£m Q1
2023

Q2
2023

Q3
2023

Q4
2023

FY
2023

Q1
2024

Q2
2024

Q3
2024

Q4
2024

FY
2024

Q1
2025

THG Beauty -14.3% -9.6% +0.0% +2.0% -5.1% +13.6% +3.5% +3.2% +0.8% +4.6% -9.8%
THG Nutri tion +3.8% +2.0% -1.4% -4.0% +0.0% -5.8% -9.2% -10.5% -9.5% -8.7% +0.1%
Post-demerger
revenue

-7.4% -5.3% -0.6% +0.0% -3.2% +5.4% -1.5% -2.1% -2.5% -0.4% -6.1%

THG Ingenuity
(external )

-10.9% -7.8% -1.0% +9.3% -2.5% +5.8% +21.0% +15.2% +22.0% +16.4% -

Pre-demerger revenue -7.8% -5.5% -0.6% +0.7% -3.2% +5.5% +0.4% -0.4% -0.4% +1.1% -
Discontinued revenue -33.1% -44.4% -56.7% -48.0% -45.6% -50.5% -51.5% -58.6% -66.9% -56.8% -79.9%
Total revenue -11.1% -10.1% -7.6% -5.4% -8.5% +0.2% -3.4% -3.9% -5.0% -3.1% -8.0%

THG Ingenuity
(internal )

-15.5% -17.1% -10.5% -9.0% -13.0% -8.0% -10.6% -13.5% -11.7% -11.0% -

mailto:Investor.Relations@thg.com
mailto:thg@powerscourt-group.com


(internal )
THG Ingenuity (total ) -14.4% -15.1% -8.2% -5.3% -10.7% -4.7% -3.3% -6.1% -3.8% -4.4% -
 
Quarterly reported growth rate
 

£m Q1
2023

Q2
2023

Q3
2023

Q4
2023

FY
2023

Q1
2024

Q2
2024

Q3
2024

Q4
2024

FY
2024

Q1
2025

THG Beauty -10.1% -8.0% -1.2% +1.9% -3.9% +11.8% +2.9% +2.5% -1.3% +3.3% -10.0%
THG Nutri tion +5.7% +1.8% -3.8% -6.0% -0.7% -9.0% -12.8% -13.1% -12.6% -11.9% -2.0%
Post-demerger
revenue

-3.9% -4.3% -2.2% -0.8% -2.7% +2.9% -3.4% -3.6% -4.9% -2.5% -7.0%

THG Ingenuity
(external )

-9.4% -7.6% -2.5% +7.1% -2.9% +4.1% +20.0% +14.7% +22.9% +16.0% -

Pre -demerger
revenue

-4.4% -4.6% -2.2% -0.2% -2.7% +3.0% -1.5% -1.9% -2.6% -0.9% -

Discontinued revenue -36.1% -47.7% -58.8% -51.4% -48.6% -51.6% -52.0% -59.0% -67.5% -57.5% -79.9%
Total revenue -8.6% -10.0% -9.5% -6.9% -8.7% -2.0% -5.2% -5.2% -7.1% -5.0% -10.6%

THG Ingenuity
(internal )

-15.5% -17.1% -10.5% -9.0% -13.0% -8.0% -10.6% -15.7% -10.0% -11.0% -

THG Ingenuity (total ) -14.1% -15.1% -8.6% -5.7% -10.8% -5.1% -3.5% -7.9% -2.2% -4.5% -
 
 

Chief Executive Officer's Statement
As we reflect on the last year, I  am incredibly proud of what we have achieved together as  an organisaBon. This  year has

been transformaBve, marked by strategic mi lestones, operaBonal  res i l ience and financial  progress  with revenue

divers ificaBon and cash generaBon improvements . I  want to take this  opportunity to celebrate our successes , address  the

chal lenges  and share the rationale behind key decis ions  we made.

 

·   We started the year successful ly integraBng pre-eminent skincare brand Biossance into our own brand Beauty

porYol io. O ur presBge beauty brands are now stocked in over 4,500 stores  worldwide, and are renowned for their

innovative ingredient technology and wel lness  expertise.

·     We celebrated 20 years  in bus iness  - an incredible achievement when we reflect on our journey and how our

brands have evolved. W hi lst certain pressures  have abated, new chal lenges  and areas  of uncertainty have

emerged. As  a  bus iness  we remain on the front foot to adapt to preserve our financial  health and take advantage of

new growth opportunities .

·     Throughout 2024, we del ivered robust financial  discipl ine, with our focus  on operaBng efficiencies  and invesBng

in markets  where we have a right to win driving these outcomes. We del ivered a cons istent Adjusted EB I TDA year

on year despite the chal lenging economic conditions.

·     O ur strategy to s impl i fy and streaml ine operaBons led to the sale of our luxury goods websites , and certain beauty

own brands. O ur resources  within TH G Beauty are now prioriBsed on those categories  and markets  which provide

us  with more opBmal  returns  a l igned to our financial  prioriBes, demonstrated by the Adjusted EB I TDA margin for

the year being ahead of our medium-term target.

·    I t was  a  trans iBonal  year for TH G NutriBon, characterised by a  period of strategic real ignment and investment.

W hi lst this  inevitably resulted in chal lenges  as  we contested with ris ing costs , Myprotein is  now posiBoned as  a

leader in qual i ty and value across  mulBple health and wel lness  categories . A long-term partnership with dairy

category leader Mül ler i s  testament to the profi le of brands we are now standing alongs ide.

·     At the start of the year our group was made up of three leading bus inesses  and col lecBvely we took the decis ion to

demerge THG Ingenuity after substantia l  s takeholder engagement. 

·    Fol lowing the compleBon of the FC A l i sBng regime review, we took the appropriate steps  to transfer to the ES C C

category. We welcomed the output to s impl i fy the l i s ting regime, and entered the FTSE 250 index in March 2025.

·     	O ur final  mi lestone was to secure a  long-term capital  s tructure relevant for the bus iness  s ize and growth profile.

We have materia l ly reduced gross  debt whi lst retaining suitable l iquidity to conBnue invesBng in our brands to

support their growth potentia l .

 

THG Beauty: Target Adjusted EBITDA margin achieved

W ithin our Beauty bus iness  the strategy of focus ing on higher margin sales  and reducing order volumes that do not del iver

target profitabi l i ty conBnued, driving excepBonal  Adjusted EB I TDA margin progress . This  performance underscores  our

leadership pos ition in the market and commitment to progress ing stakeholder value, including with our brand partners .

 

THG Nutrition: A transitional year, omnichannel paving the way forward

2024 marked a trans iBonal  year for TH G NutriBon characterised by the rebrand. More consumers  global ly are now buying

Myprotein products  than ever before, fol lowing the temporary reducBon in onl ine customers  during the year. This  success

has  been underpinned by the retai l  sa les  value growth through offl ine retai l  and l icens ing revenues.

 

W hi lst the bus iness  reported a decl ine in total  revenue, this  was  largely driven by the clearance of old brand product



W hilst the bus iness  reported a decl ine in total  revenue, this  was  largely driven by the clearance of old brand product

onl ine at lower price points . We are pleased to see i t progress ing back into growth in 2025, supported by new product

launches  and strengthened customer engagement both onl ine and across  mulBple retai l  locaBons. This  resurgence

highl ights  the strength of our divers ified porYol io and our abi l i ty to adapt and innovate in response to evolving consumer

demands.

 

Strategic partnerships

Partnerships  have played a key role in our success  this  year. By col laboraBng with industry leaders  and innovaBve

organisaBons, we have enhanced our capabi l iBes  and expanded our reach. These al l iances  have enabled us  to access  new

markets , accelerate product development and strengthen our value proposiBon across  key sectors . Strategic l icens ing

partnerships  underl ine the reach of the Myprotein brand, and highl ight the growth opportuniBes  in l icensed brand

extens ions. As  we look ahead, we remain commiZed to fostering these relaBonships  and bui lding new ones  that wi l l  further

our brand and create long-term value.

 

The demerger of THG Ingenuity

This  year a lso saw the pivotal  decis ion to demerge TH G I ngenuity. This  step represents  a  s ignificant mi lestone in our

journey to enhance focus, improve cash generaBon and unlock value. By establ ishing TH G I ngenuity as  an independent

enBty, we have enabled i t to pursue i ts  growth ambiBons with greater agi l i ty. At the same Bme, this  a l lows us  to dedicate

our resources  to our core bus iness  areas. The demerger reflects  our commitment to del ivering operaBonal  excel lence,

streaml ining our prioriBes  and creaBng greater transparency for stakeholders . We are confident this  move wi l l  drive long-

term success  for both THG Ingenuity and the Group.

 

Overcoming challenges

W hile chal lenges, including the rebrand trans iBon, commodity pricing and consumer spend pressures , tested our

res i l ience, our team's  abi l i ty to adapt and respond effecBvely has  been instrumental  in sustaining our progress . These

efforts  have further strengthened our financial  foundaBon, underpinned by high qual i ty repeat revenues and channel

divers i fication.

 

Looking ahead

As we enter the second quarter we are exci ted and thoughtful  about the road ahead. Our strategic priori ties  remain clear: to

drive sustainable, profitable growth, deepen customer relaBonships , and lead with innovaBon. The beauty and nutriBon

businesses  wi l l  remain central  to our strategy, as  we conBnue to bui ld on their strong performance and potenBal . We are

also commiZed to supporBng I ngenuity through leveraging i ts  market leading services  as  i t embarks  on i ts  independent

journey. This  partnership gives  our brands and customers  a  best in-class  ecommerce experience, with value and advancing

performance at the core.

 

I n clos ing, I  want to extend my thanks  to our employees, whose dedicaBon and pass ion are the driving forces  behind our

achievements . I 'm impressed by the Group's  agi l i ty and res i l ience during a  year of s ignificant change, and I  would l ike to

thank everyone involved at THG for their immense efforts  during a  transformative year for the bus iness .

 
Chief Financial Officer's Review
 
Overview of FY 2024 result
A keen focus  on cash management against the backdrop of a  chal lenging economic environment, with the compleBon of the
demerger of THG Ingenuity further accelerating gross  deleveraging.
 
TH G Beauty del ivered on strategy with growth in core markets  and Adjusted EB I TDA margins  above medium-term guidance
driven by the focus  on more profi table sales .
 
ReducBon in revenue fol lowing compleBon of porYol io management within TH G Beauty to exi t loss making disconBnued
categories  driven by the focus  on cash.
 
TH G NutriBon had a chal lenging onl ine performance alongs ide record high whey prices  impacBng the F Y 2024 result.
Fol lowing the major global  rebrand, decis ive acBon was taken to reposiBon TH G NutriBon for a  return to sustainable
revenue growth and margin recovery.
 
£550m of cash and avai lable faci l iBes  at year end (ahead of demerger - with £89.0m of cash leaving the Group with TH G
I ngenuity), providing excel lent l iquidity and seJng a sol id foundaBon for TH G's  future as  a  cash-generaBve consumer
brands Group.
 
Post year end, successful  completion of debt refinancing to 2029.
 
Total Group overview[9]

20241
THG

Beauty
THG

Nutrition
Post

demerger

THG

Ingenuity2
Inter-group
elimination

Pre
demerger

Discontinued
categories

Total
FY 2023£m Central

External revenue 1,108.5 579.8 - 1,688.3 191.9 - 1,880.2 63.1 1,943.3

Internal revenue - - - - 462.9 (462.9) - - -

Total revenue 1,108.5 579.8 - 1,688.3 654.8 (462.9) 1,880.2 63.1 1,943.3



Total revenue 1,108.5 579.8 - 1,688.3 654.8 (462.9) 1,880.2 63.1 1,943.3

Adjusted EBITDA 79.8 34.5 (22.2) 92.1 31.0 - 123.1 (8.7) 114.4

Margin 7.2% 6.0% - 5.5% 4.7% - 6.5% (13.8%) 5.9%

 
2023

THG
Beauty

THG
Nutrition

Post
demerger

THG
Ingenuity

Inter-group
elimination

Pre
demerger

Discontinued
categories

Total
FY 2023£m Central

External revenue 1,073.3 657.9 - 1,731.2 165.5 - 1,896.7 148.6 2,045.4

Internal revenue - - - - 519.9 (519.9) - - -

Total revenue 1,073.3 657.9 - 1,731.2 685.4 - 1,896.7 148.6 2,045.4

Adjusted EBITDA 44.1 88.9 (21.8) 111.3 11.0 - 122.3 (8.2) 114.1

Margin 4.1% 13.5% - 6.4% 1.6% - 6.4% (5.5%) 5.6%

1. This report includes a number of non-GA A P  measures and alterna;ve performance measures. A djusted results are consistent
with how business performance is measured internally and presented to aid comparability of performance. See more
information within the glossary and reconciliations to statutory measures within this report.

2.   Following the comple;on of the demerger, we have concluded that TH G Ingenuity meets the criteria of being classified as a
discon;nued opera;on (IF RS 5: Non-current A ssets Held for Sale and Discon;nued O pera;ons). See note 9 for more
informa;on. F Y 2023 has been restated to reflect certain leased assets and opera;onal ac;vi;es of TH G Experience within
THG Ingenuity which had previously been reported within THG Beauty.
 

Reconciliation to statutory revenue
2024
£m

2023
£m

THG Beauty 1,108.5 1,073.3
THG Nutri tion 579.8 657.9
Post-demerger revenue 1,688.3 1,731.2
THG Ingenuity (external ) 191.9 165.5
Pre-demerger revenue 1,880.2 1,896.7
Discontinued categories 63.1 148.6
TH G I ngenuity (external ) - class ified as  disconBnued operaBons for statutory
presentation

(191.9) (165.5)

Statutory continuing revenue 1,751.4 1,879.9

The demerger completed on 2 January 2025. Therefore, the results  of TH G P LC for F Y 2024 include TH G Beauty, TH G NutriBon
and THG Ingenuity, reflecting performance prior to the demerger.
 
The segmental  reporting and categories  in this  report (and the table above) are summarised as  fol lows:
 
Post-demerger - this  represents  the streaml ined Group moving forward, compris ing TH G Beauty and TH G NutriBon, net of
central  costs  and excluding TH G I ngenuity and disconBnued categories , and wi l l  consBtute the underlying results  of TH G
PLC reported from FY 2025.
 
Pre-demerger - includes  TH G Beauty, TH G NutriBon and TH G I ngenuity as  have previous ly been reported in prior years
(excluding discontinued categories); fol lowing the completion of the demerger, THG Ingenuity is  now a private company and
its  results  wi l l  not be reported within the results  of THG PLC after FY 2024.
 
DisconFnued categories - as  part of our focus  on conBnual ly improving the bus iness  and responding to the economic
backdrop, several  non core brands and product offerings  idenBfied as  loss-making or non-cash generaBve were exited
across  F Y 2023 and F Y 2024 improving the margin potenBal  of the bus iness . These categories  have been removed from the
post-demerger and pre demerger result as  an adjusted performance measure to provide a comparable bas is  going
forwards.
 
Headlines
·    Post-demerger Group revenue of £1,688.3m (2023: £1,731.2m) and Adjusted EB I TDA of £92.1m (2023: £111.3m) with a

margin of 5.5% (2023: 6.4%). Revenue reducBon of 2.5% driven by a  revenue performance within TH G Beauty of +3.3%,
offset by a  decrease in TH G NutriBon of -11.9%. S ignificant 310bps improvement in TH G Beauty margin reflecBng the
conBnued prioriBsaBon of more profitable sales  and exiBng loss-making and low-margin terri tories  and brands,
partia l ly offsetting the chal lenging trading environment for THG Nutri tion, most notably the record high whey prices .

·    P re-demerger Group revenue of £1,880.2m (2023: £1,896.7m) and Adjusted EB I TDA of £123.1m (2023: £122.3m) with a
margin of 6.5% (2023: 6.4%) with both metrics  remaining broadly stable.

·    TH G Beauty result driven by strong performance driven by the UK  (with 53% of revenue generated outs ide of the UK ). TH G
NutriBon by contrast experienced a more chal lenging year, primari ly as  a  result of weaker onl ine sales , a  result of the
rebrand and lower than expected As ia  performance.

·    O peraBng loss  of £147.9m (2023: £39.2m) increased due to the combinaBon of the weaker performance in TH G
NutriBon combined with increased costs  recognised within adjusBng i tems in the year. These costs  primari ly relate to
the decis ion made to exi t loss making categories  which led to one-off costs  for impairment of related assets  and an
inventory provis ion and the clearance of old brand stock fol lowing the rebrand within THG Nutri tion.

 

THG Beauty
Standout adjusted EBITDA performance from THG Beauty
Revenue increased by +3.3% to £1,108.5m (2023: £1,073.3m) driven by retai l  and own brand performance. Revenue
increased in core terri tories  of the UK  and US, offset by strategic reducBons in sales  across  Europe and As ia  to ensure a
focus  on higher margin customers.
 
Drivers  were skincare, cosmetics  and fragrance, with fragrance proving in high demand throughout the year.
 
Adjusted EB I TDA del ivered of £79.8m (2023: £44.1m). Adjusted EB I TDA margin of 7.2% (2023: 4.1%) has  a lmost doubled YoY
fol lowing a return to revenue growth, the pos iBve impact of the strategy to focus  on higher-margin sales  and the
normal isation of manufacturing profi tabi l i ty.
 
THG Nutrition
Continued evolution of strategy following a challenging year
TH G NutriBon reported revenue of £579.8m (2023: 657.9m) being a  -11.9% decrease. W hi lst the bus iness  reported a
revenue decl ine, this  has  been primari ly driven by the one-Bme average sel l ing price reducBon of 11.0% due to clearance
on old brand product onl ine. Good momentum is  being seen in categories  outs ide of core protein powders , especial ly in
activewear, vi tamins, and bars  and snacks  a longs ide the offl ine market.
 
Adjusted EB I TDA margin of 6.0% (2023: 13.5%) was  principal ly as  a  result of the chal lenging sales  performance, heavi ly
influenced by the record high input whey prices , pers istent weakness  of the Japanese Yen and increased promoBonal
acBvity to clear old brand stock fol lowing the rebrand. The strategy conBnues to evolve with conBnued growth in our



acBvity to clear old brand stock fol lowing the rebrand. The strategy conBnues to evolve with conBnued growth in our
offl ine bus iness  compris ing manufacturing, retai l  and l icens ing, enabled by the rebrand.
 
Central costs
Central  costs  relate primari ly to the P LC Board remuneraBon, insurance, profess ional  services  fees , Group finance, M&A
and governance costs  that are not recharged to the bus inesses  as  they principal ly relate to the operaBons of the P LC
holding company. The costs  remained largely cons istent with FY 2023.
 
Geographical review of revenue
The fol lowing table provides  an analys is  of revenue by region (by customer location):

2024
£'000

2023
£'000 Movement

UK 795.1 773.1 +2.8%
USA 336.6 306.3 +9.9%
Europe 357.9 377.0 -5.1%
Rest of the world 198.7 274.8 -27.7%
Post-demerger revenue 1,688.3 1,731.2
The UK  conBnues to be the largest market for the Group with 47.1% (2023: 44.7%) of revenue generated within the UK . The
UK is  the biggest market for the Group in both THG Beauty and THG Nutri tion.
 
The USA is  a  growing market for the Group with 19.9% of revenue (2023: 17.7%). Dermstore is  our primary beauty fascia  in
the US and sel ls  over £170m annual ly, whi lst roughly hal f of TH G Beauty manufacturing sales  are generated in the US from
our New Jersey labs  faci l i ty.
 
Europe and the rest of the world both saw sales  decl ine year on year in 2024 driven by both the prioriBsaBon of higher
margin sales  in TH G Beauty which lead to a  conscious  pul l  back on some sales  acBvity in Europe and As ia, and the
exchange rate on the Japanese Yen which adversely impacted on our abi l i ty to compete in TH G NutriBon in Japan, which is
one of Myprotein's  biggest markets .
 
Discontinued
Discontinued operations - THG Ingenuity
Total  revenue of £654.8m (2023: £685.4m), a  decrease of -4.5%. This  i s  due to the reducBon in internal  revenue of 11.0%,
partia l ly offset by the increase in external  revenue of 16.0%.
 
The investments  made across  the TH G I ngenuity offering over a  number of years , a longs ide advancing strategic prioriBes,
have pos iBoned TH G I ngenuity for success  as  a  standalone private company. This , combined with the ongoing focus  on
higher-value and higher-margin cl ients , has  started to del iver, parBcularly across  fulfilment services . This  enabled TH G
I ngenuity to del iver Adjusted EB I TDA of £31.0m (2023: £11.0m) with a  margin of 4.7% (2023: 1.6%), an increase of 310bps
YoY.
 
I nternal  revenue of £462.9m (2023: £519.9m) relates  to services  provided to the wider TH G Group, including plaYorm
infrastructure and services , warehouse fulfilment, courier services  and markeBng services . I nternal  revenue decl ined due
to the Group exiBng loss-making categories  and terri tories  a long with lower D2C sales  in TH G NutriBon, which in turn has
generated lower volumes for THG Ingenuity.
 
Discontinued categories
During 2023, the Group announced i ts  intenBon to s impl i fy and streaml ine i ts  operaBons, undertaking a  strategic review of
loss making categories  and terri tories . Given the s ize and complexity of the Group, this  exercise has  continued during 2024,
leaving the continuing Group in a  streaml ined, strong market pos ition, driving pos itive cash flow.
 
Several  smal l , non-core brands and product offerings  were exited during F Y 2024. These brands generated £63.1m of
revenue (F Y 2023: £148.6m) and contributed an Adjusted EB I TDA loss  of £8.7m (F Y 2023: £8.2m). These losses  wi l l  not
continue into FY 2025.
The prior year disconBnued categories  have been restated to include cons istent categories  disclosed in F Y 2024 to provide
a l ike for-l ike comparison. (See note 2 within the financial  s tatements .)

 
Group financial review
Statutory results

 Year ended
31 December

2023
(restated)1

£m

Year ended
31 December

2024
£m

Continuing operations  
Revenue 1,751.4 1,879.9
Cost of sales (1,057.8) (1,082.5)
Gross  profi t 693.6 797.4
Distribution costs (231.0) (277.3)
Administrative costs (610.5) (559.4)
Operating loss (147.9) (39.2)
Finance income 9.0 12.9
Finance costs (63.6) (65.9)
Loss  before tax (202.4) (92.3)
Income tax credit/(charge) 21.9 (15.7)
Loss  for the financial  year from continuing operations (180.6) (108.0)
Discontinued operations  
Loss  for the financial  year, net of tax (145.6) (140.4)
Loss for the financial year (326.1) (248.4)
1.     Restated for the impact of THG Ingenuity being classified as a discontinued operation.
 
Adjusted profit measures with reconciliation to statutory result
Management have presented al ternaBve performance measures  to provide stakeholders  with addiBonal  helpful
informaBon on the performance of the bus iness . These al ternaBve performance measures  are cons istent with how the
business  performance is  monitored and reported through internal  Management reporBng to the Board. To ensure that
stakeholders  can reconci le this  to the statutory information presented, the below table has  been included:

Year ended 31 December 2024
  Amortisation

and
depreciation

£m

   
Management
adjusted view

£m

Adjusted
items

£m

Discontinued
categories

£m

Share based
payments

£m

 
Statutory

£m
Revenue 1,688.3 - - 63.1 - 1,751.4



Revenue 1,688.3 - - 63.1 - 1,751.4
Cost of sales (983.4) (33.6) (0.4) (40.4) - (1,057.8)
Gross  profi t 704.9 (33.6) (0.4) 22.7 - 693.6
Distribution costs (216.9) (1.3) (0.2) (12.6) - (231.0)
Administrative costs (395.8) (89.6) (89.6) (18.9) (16.6) (610.5)
Operating profi t/(loss) 92.2 (124.5) (90.2) (8.8) (16.6) (147.9)
 
 

Year ended 31 December 2023

Amortisation
and

depreciation
£m

Management
adjusted

view
£m

Adjusted
items

£m

Discontinued
categories

£m

Share based
payments

£m
Statutory

£m
Revenue 1,731.3 - - 148.6 - 1,879.9  
Cost of sales (975.9) (15.3) (0.5) (90.8) - (1,082.5)  
Gross  profi t 755.4 (15.3) (0.5) 57.8 - 797.4  
Distribution costs (246.7) (2.2) (0.2) (28.2) - (277.3)  
Administrative costs (397.3) (14.2) (93.3) (37.9) (16.7) (559.4)  
Operating profi t/(loss) 111.3 (31.6) (94.0) (8.2) (16.7) (39.2)  
 
Revenue
Group statutory conBnuing revenue decreased by -6.8% to £1,751.4m (2023: £1,879.9m). This  performance reflects  the
decrease in TH G NutriBon revenue of -11.9%, offset by a  +3.3% increase in TH G Beauty revenue plus  disconBnued
categories . Detai led analys is  i s  included earl ier in this  report.
 
Gross profit
Adjusted gross  profit was  £704.9m (2023: £755.4m) equaBng to an adjusted margin of 41.8% (2023: 43.6%), a  reducBon of
190bps compared to 2023.
 
The reducBon YoY has  been driven by the decrease in the TH G NutriBon margin, largely discounBng to clear old stock
fol lowing the rebrand rol lout. W ithin TH G NutriBon, the chal lenging top-l ine performance was compounded by higher YoY
input costs , primari ly whey. The Japanese yen has  been parBcularly chal lenging in 2024, peaking at 207Y/£ vs  c.181Y/£ at
the same point last year, and 135Y/£ at I P O  (a  c.47% devaluaBon s ince I P O  in September 2020). This  has  a l l  but el iminated
profitabi l i ty in Myprotein's  second largest market and we have had to reduce promoBonal  acBvity as  a  result, impacBng
Myprotein's  competitiveness  within the region.
 
Gross  profit has  strengthened in TH G Beauty through onl ine retai l  sa les  growth (principal ly LookfantasBc, Cult Beauty and
Dermstore) as  previous  actions  to priori tise higher-margin sales  and promotional  strategies  have come to fruition.
 
Gross  profit on a statutory bas is  total led £693.6m (2023: £797.4m) del ivering a  decreased margin of 39.6% (2023: 42.4%).
In addition to the above, the statutory pos ition was a lso impacted by the increase in adjusted i tems, the loss  on disposal  of
luxury websites , an outcome of the strategic review and inventory provis ions  post rebrand. 
 
Distribution costs
P leas ingly, adjusted distribuBon costs  of £216.9m (2023: £246.7m) equate to 12.8% (2023: 14.2%) of revenue.
This  s ignificant improvement of 140bps is  a  result of the exit of those operaBons that generated lower profits , which were
general ly those sales  to terri tories  further from our distribuBon network (which consequently had a higher distribuBon
cost). D istribuBon costs  a lso benefited from improving AOVs in TH G Beauty as  wel l  as  a  higher beauty mix, with TH G Beauty
distribution costs  are lower than THG Nutri tion as  a  percentage of sales .
 
D istribuBon costs  on a statutory bas is  further reduced as  a  percentage of sales  by 160bps compared to 2023, culminaBng
in a  cost of £231.0m (2023: £277.3m), being 13.2% (2023: 14.8%) of revenue aided by lower adjusted i tems than in the prior
year.
 
Administration costs
Adjusted administraBve costs  as  a  percentage of revenue total led 23.4% of revenue (2023: 22.9%). During H2 2024, the
Group focused on cost raBonal isaBon to right-s ize the cost base of the bus iness  post demerger; this  resulted in reducBons
across  administraBve costs  where the benefit wi l l  annual ise in F Y 2025, a lbeit these wi l l  be offset by the naBonal
insurance and naBonal  minimum wage changes  outl ined by the government in the autumn of 2024. Fol lowing the exit of the
disconBnued categories , further cost reducBons have also been implemented. W hi le administraBve costs  reduced on an
absolute bas is , driven by cost savings  which more than offset inflaBonary pressures , the percentage to sales  increased
YoY, owing to the chal lenging top-l ine sales  performance in THG Nutri tion.
 
AdministraBve costs  on a statutory bas is  total led £610.5m (2023: £559.4m), increas ing due to the increase in adjusted
items as  explained later in this  report.
 
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin

Year ended
31 December

2024
£m

Year ended
31 December

2023
£mReconci l iation from operating loss  to Adjusted EBITDA

Operating loss (147.9) (39.2)
Adjustments  for:  
Amortisation 19.9 21.0
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 45.5 49.0
Depreciation 24.8 24.1
Adjusted i tems - cash 24.6 10.4
Adjusted i tems - non-cash 42.4 21.2
Adjusted i tems - non-cash impairment 57.5 -
Share-based payments 16.6 16.7
EBITDA from discontinued categories 8.7 8.2
Adjusted EBITDA (post-demerger) 92.1 111.4
Adjusted EBITDA (post-demerger) % 5.5% 6.4%
EBITDA from discontinued operations  (THG Ingenuity) 31.0 11.0
Adjusted EBITDA (pre-demerger) 123.1 122.3
Adjusted EBITDA (pre-demerger) % 6.5% 6.4%
 
Depreciation and amortisation
Statutory depreciaBon and amorBsaBon costs  were £24.8m and £65.4m respecBvely (2023: £24.1m and £70.0m). I ncluded
within amortisation is  £45.5m (2023: £49.0m) of amortisation on acquired intangibles  (see below).
 



 
Depreciation remained largely cons istent, reflective of the current asset base.
 
Amortisation on acquired intangibles £45.5m (2023: £49.0m)
W hen an acquis iBon is  made, the accounBng standards  (I F RS 3: Bus iness  CombinaBons) require that an exercise is
undertaken to value any brands, trade names or other intel lectual  property (such as  customer l i s ts ). Fol lowing recogniBon
of these assets , they are amortised over a  period of 2-20 years .
 
Given the number of s ignificant acquis iBons made in recent years , primari ly within TH G Beauty, we cons ider this  amount
should be viewed separately to other amorBsaBon total l ing £19.9m (2023: £21.0m) to ensure comparabi l i ty to those who
undertook fewer or no acquis i tions. This  i s  a  non-cash cost.
 
Other amortisation, outs ide of amortisation on acquired intangibles  remained largely cons istent YoY.
 
Operating profit/(loss)
Adjusted operaBng profit totals  £92.2m (2023: £111.3m). The reducBon YoY is  a  result of the above-menBoned factors .
The acBons taken to exi t loss-making categories  and terri tories  and an anBcipated improvement in consumer spending are
expected to increase the operaBng profit pos iBon in the medium term, a longs ide an improvement in the TH G NutriBon D2C
sales  performance.
 
The Group incurred an operaBng loss  in the year of £147.9m (2023: £39.2m). This  i s  primari ly driven by adjusted i tems
increas ing by £92.9m in F Y 2024, being the one-off costs  associated with losses  on disposal  of disconBnued categories
including impairment of associated assets , onerous  contracts  and costs  related to the compleBon of the Myprotein
rebrand which wi l l  not recur.
 
Finance costs net of finance income
Finance costs  net of finance income have remained stable at £54.5m (2023: £53.0m) driven principal ly by higher interest
rates , which have been caused by the higher interest rate environment. Were i t not for the comprehensive hedging
programme in place, this  increase would have been more materia l . The inherent cost increase is  offset by a  reducBon in
interest expense fol lowing the partia l  repayment of bank borrowings  in H2 2023.
 
Loss before tax and tax rate
Reported loss  before tax was  £202.4m (2023: £92.3m). The effecBve tax rate is  -0.9% (2023: 1.4%), based on a total  tax
credit of £21.9m (2023: tax charge £15.7m). The effecBve tax rate differs  from the average statutory rate of 25.0% (2023:
23.5%). This  i s  primari ly due to amounts  not recognised and a write down of previous ly recognised deferred tax assets . 
These i tems have both arisen as  part of the demerger and reflect the spl i t between conBnuing and disconBnued operaBons
leading to a  change in profi le for tax losses  and deferred tax recognition.
 
Earnings per share
Loss  per share on continuing operations  was  £(0.13) per share (2023: £(0.08) per share).

 
Statutory cash flow statement

Year ended
31 December

2024
£m

Year ended
31 December

2023
£m

Pre-demerger Adjusted EBITDA 123.1 122.3
Adjusted EBITDA - discontinued categories (8.7) (8.2)
Working capital  movements  22.0 48.2
Tax paid (0.6) (5.4)
Adjusted i tems (39.3) (15.0)
Net cash generated from operating activi ties 96.5 141.8
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (31.7) (46.3)
Purchase of intangible assets (69.6) (79.4)
Proceeds from sale of non-core freehold assets - 55.5
Finance costs  and lease repayments  (83.2) (84.0)
Free cash flow (88.0) (12.4)
Acquis i tion of subs idiaries  net of cash acquired - (20.3)
Repayments  of bank borrowings  (23.8) (25.0)
Share placing, net of directly attributable costs 93.3 -
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (18.6) (57.6)
Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning of the year 416.2 473.8
Cash held for distribution (THG Ingenuity) (89.0) -
Cash and cash equivalents  at the end of the year 308.6 416.2

Free cash flow for the total  Group was an ouYlow of £88.0m (2023: ouYlow of £12.4m). This  includes  £101.3m (2023:
£125.7m) of capital  expenditure, cash adjusBng i tem payments  of £39.3m (2023: £15.0m) and finance costs  and lease
repayments  total l ing £83.2m (2023: £84.0m).
 
There was a  decrease in cash and cash equivalents  for the year of £18.6m (2023: £57.6m) driven by the above cash
ouYlows which were parBal ly offset by the equity ra ise which completed in O ctober 2024 rais ing proceeds net of costs  of
£93.3m (£89.0m of cash le] the Group with TH G I ngenuity). The Group ended the period with c.£550m cash and avai lable
faci l iBes  at the end of the year, ahead of demerger, being cash and cash equivalents  of £397.6m (including £89.0m within
THG Ingenuity) (2023: £416.2m) and the undrawn RCF total l ing £150m.
 
There has  been a reducBon in the cash spend of £24.4m on capital  expenditure in 2024, cons istent with the large scale
investment projects  completing in the year. Finance costs  and lease repayments  remained cons istent YoY.
 
Cash flows in respect of adjusBng i tems largely relate to the demerger and onerous  contracts  which are not expected to
recur.
 
Repayments  of the Term Loan A faci l i ty in the year total led £23.8m (2023: £25.0m). Loans  and other borrowings  at 2024
were £604.6m (2023: £650.0m). Detai ls  of the post year end refinancing are included on the fol lowing page.
 
Post-demerger cash flow - for illustrative purposes
The table below detai ls  the cash flows for the year for TH G Beauty and TH G NutriBon only to show the cash flows for the
Group excluding TH G I ngenuity; this  has  been prepared cons istently with the informaBon publ ished in the ci rcular
previous ly released to the market.

2024
£m

2023
£m

Post-demerger Adjusted EBITDA 92.1 111.3
Adjusted EBITDA - discontinued categories (8.7) (8.2)
Working capital  movements 17.9 75.3



Working capital  movements 17.9 75.3
Tax paid (1.3) (5.1)
Adjusted i tems (21.2) (11.3)
Net cash generated from operating activi ties 78.8 162.0
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (7.5) (12.5)
Purchase of intangible assets (13.6) (20.9)
Proceeds from sale of non-core freehold assets - 8.5
Finance costs  and lease repayments1 (57.4) (56.9)

Free cash flow2 0.4 80.2
Acquis i tion of subs idiaries  net of cash acquired - (16.4)
Repayments  of bank borrowings (23.8) (25.0)
Share placing, net of directly attributable costs 93.3 -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 79.8 38.8
2.     Lease repayments include expected ouNlows for subleases entered into on 2 January 2025. This is a per annum cash cost of

c.£10m.
3.     Free cash flow is defined as cash flow before the impact of acquisitions, bank borrowings and share placings.

 
O n a post-demerger bas is , free cash flow is  neutral  with an inflow of £0.4m (2023: inflow of £80.2m) and a net increase in
cash and cash equivalents  of £79.8m (2023: £38.8m). Excluding one-off cash adjusted i tems, a  cash inflow of £21.6m
would have been generated.
 
I n the prior year there was a  one-off working capital  inflow of £75.3m as  inventory levels  normal ised. I n F Y 2024, the
inflow of £17.9m was lower than anticipated due to a  delay in a  VAT payment of over £20m received in January 2025.  
 
The post-demerger cash flows differ to the pre-demerger bas is  as  a  result of reduced capital  expenditure total l ing £21.1m
(2023: £33.4m), lower cash adjusBng i tems to exclude those relaBng to TH G I ngenuity and lower finance costs  and lease
repayments  given many of the Group's  leases  relate to THG Ingenuity.
 
Repayments  of bank borrowings  and share placing proceeds remain the same on a pre and post-demerger bas is .
 
Adjusted items 
I n order to understand the underlying performance of the Group, certain costs  included within cost of sales , distribuBon,
administrative and finance costs  have been class i fied as  adjusted i tems. 
 
The largest category of costs  included within adjusted i tems are those relaBng to loss  on disconBnued categories  of
£24.7m (2023: £10.5m) along with the impairment of i ts  associated brands and other intangibles  of £57.5m (2023: £ni l ) as
the Group progressed i ts  strategic review of loss-making non-core brands and product offerings .
 
For ful l  detai ls  on each category of adjusted i tem see note 4 to the financial  s tatements .
 
Balance sheet
Cash and cash equivalents and net cash before lease liabilities

2024
£m

2023
£m

Loans and other borrowings (604.6) (650.0)
Lease l iabi l i ties1 (41.4) (345.0)
Cash and cash equivalents 308.6 416.2
Sub-total (337.3) (578.9)
Adjustments:  
Retrans late debt balance at swap rate where hedged by foreign exchange derivatives (8.3) 15.7
Net debt (345.6) (563.2)
Net debt before lease liabilities - post demerger (304.3) n/a
Net debt before lease liabilities - pre demerger2 (215.3) (218.2)
1.   Following comple;on of the demerger, subleases were entered into by TH G P LC  genera;ng c.£80m of new lease liabili;es,

therefore we expect the lease liabilities of THG PLC to increase in FY 2025 reflecting the subleases.
2.   Being the net debt less lease liabili;es - post demerger of £304.3m plus the £89.0m of cash that was included within the

held for distribution group.
 
At 31 December 2024, the Group held £397.6m in cash and cash equivalents  (2023: £416.2m) spl i t between cash of
£308.6m within the post-demerger Group and £89.0m included within the held for distribuBon group (within TH G I ngenuity
and which left the Group fol lowing the demerger).
 
At the year end, the Group held a  €600m Term Loan B due to mature in December 2026 and a £109m Term Loan A faci l i ty
maturing in Q4 2025. The undrawn RCF total led £150m.
 
Post year end, on 4 Apri l  2025, the Group announced the compleBon of i ts  debt refinancing to 2029. As  part of a  plan to
delever, the refinancing reduced the Term Loan B from €600m to €445m with maturi ty extended by three years  to December
2029. The Term Loan A was parBal ly repaid with a  final  stub of £35m maturing in Q 4 2025. The undrawn RC F totals  £150m.
The reducBon in faci l iBes  was  parBal ly funded by an equity ra ise on 28 March 2025, with gross  proceeds of £95.4m. The
demerger of TH G I ngenuity wi l l  materia l ly reduce the cash ouYlows of TH G P LC with substanBal  reducBons in lease
commitments  (of c. £20m cash saving per annum) and capex requirements , which in turn means that the Group requires
smal ler banking faci l i ties .
 
Net debt before lease l iabi l iBes  on a pre-demerger bas is  was  cons istent year on year at £215.3m (2023: £218.2m). The
smal l  decrease is  driven by net impact of the equity placing less  cash spent on repayment of borrowings, lease repayments ,
finance costs  and cash adjusting i tems.
 
Non-current assets
P roperty, plant and equipment total led £64.9m (2023: £273.2m) with £177.0m being held for distribuBon to TH G I ngenuity.
I ntangible assets  total led £958.3m (2023: £1,207.4m) with £149.5m being held for distribuBon. Decreases  in the year are
driven by the depreciaBon and amorBsaBon charge (see earl ier). Fol lowing the demerger, the capital  expenditure is
expected to reduce s ignificantly given the previous  addiBonal  costs  were primari ly in respect of the plaYorm which
belongs  to THG Ingenuity.

 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2024

2024
Total
£'000

2023
(restated1)

Total
£'000Note

Continuing operations  



Continuing operations  
Revenue 2 1,751,404 1,879,866
Cost of sales (1,057,809) (1,082,493)
Gross profit 693,595 797,373
Distribution costs (230,957) (277,255)
Administrative costs (610,533) (559,350)
Operating loss 3 (147,895) (39,232)
Finance income 6 9,049 12,878
Finance costs 6 (63,554) (65,898)
Loss before taxation (202,400) (92,252)
Income tax credit/(charge) 21,867 (15,710)
Loss for the financial year from continuing operations (180,533) (107,962)
Discontinued operations  
Loss  for the financial  year from discontinued operations, net of tax 9 (145,607) (140,410)
Loss for the financial year (326,140) (248,372)

 
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  
Items that may be subsequently reclass i fied to profi t or loss :  
Exchange di fferences  on trans lating foreign operations, net of tax 12,175 (46,255)
Net loss  in cash flow hedges (7,941) (5,220)
Total comprehensive expense for the financial year (321,906) (299,847)
Bas ic and di luted loss  per share continuing operations  (£) 16 (0.13) (0.08)
Bas ic and di luted loss  per share discontinued operations  (£) 16 (0.11) (0.11)
Basic and diluted loss per share (£) 16 (0.24) (0.19)
 
 
Adjusted EBITDA

2024
Total
£'000

2023
(restated)

Total
£'000Note

Operating loss (147,895) (39,232)
Adjustments  for:  
Amortisation 7 19,880 21,005
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 7 45,506 48,953
Depreciation 3 24,824 24,059
Adjusted i tems - cash 4 24,547 10,445
Adjusted i tems - non-cash 4 42,440 21,162
Adjusted i tems - non-cash impairment 4 57,466 -
Share-based payments 5 16,579 16,723
EBITDA on discontinued categories 8,739 8,143

Post-demerger Adjusted EBITDA2 92,086 111,258
The comprehensive expense is  100% attributable to the owners  of the parent company.
 
1.     Restated for discontinued operations, refer to note 9  for further detail.
2.     Post-demerger A djusted EB ITDA  is defined as opera;ng profit before deprecia;on, amor;sa;on, share-based payments,

adjusted items and discontinued categories. 
 
 
 
Consolidated statement of financial position
as  at 31 December 2024

31 December
2024
£'000

31 December
2023
£'000Note

Non-current assets  
Intangible assets 7 958,322 1,207,383
Property, plant and equipment 8 64,890 273,171
Right-of-use assets 15 29,327 303,635
Investments - 1,400
Other financial  assets 4,590 7,999
Deferred tax asset 4,072 -

1,061,201 1,793,588
Current assets  
Assets  held for distribution 9 762,369 -
Inventories 10 265,371 297,143
Trade and other receivables 11 147,272 271,782
Other financial  assets 727 1,915
Cash and cash equivalents 12 308,622 416,162

1,484,361 987,002
Total assets 2,545,562 2,780,590
Equity  
Ordinary Shares 8,219 7,072
Share premium 2,117,148 2,024,824
Merger reserve 615 615
Capital  redemption reserve 523 523
Hedging reserve (36,134) (20,020)
Cost of hedging reserve 33,456 25,283
FX reserve 27,779 15,604
Retained earnings (1,845,779) (1,032,234)

305,827 1,021,667
Non-current liabilities  
Borrowings 14 491,782 621,011
Other financial  l iabi l i ties 35,705 -
Lease l iabi l i ties 15 31,077 301,440



Lease l iabi l i ties 15 31,077 301,440
Provis ions 11,911 22,130
Deferred tax l iabi l i ty 63,701 55,698

634,176 1,000,279
Current liabilities  
Liabi l i ties  held for distribution 9 589,672 -
Contract l iabi l i ty 15,650 22,864
Trade and other payables 13 342,527 638,350
Borrowings 14 112,785 29,026
Current tax l iabi l i ty 3,568 1,266
Lease l iabi l i ties 15 10,293 43,537
Provis ions 6,469 3,838
Other financial  l iabi l i ties 23,264 19,763
Dividend l iabi l i ty 9 501,331 -

1,605,559 758,644
Total liabilities 2,239,735 1,758,923
Total equity and liabilities 2,545,562 2,780,590
 
 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2024

Ordinary
Shares
£'000

Share
premium

£'000

Merger
reserve
£'000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£'000

FX
reserve
£'000

Cost of
hedging
reserve
£'000

Hedging
reserve
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000

Total
equity
£'000Note

Balance at 1 January 2023  6,903 2,024,452 615 523 61,859 (6,221) 16,704 (803,096) 1,301,739
Loss for the year - - - - - - - (248,372) (248,372)

Other comprehensive expense:

Impact of foreign exchange - - - - (46,255) - - - (46,255)

Movement on hedging instruments - - - - - (13,799) 8,579 - (5,220)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year - - - - (46,255) (13,799) 8,579 (248,372) (299,847)

Issue of Ordinary Share capital 169 372 - - - - - - 541
Share-based payments 5 - - - - - - - 16,723 16,723

Deferred tax in equity - - - - - - - 2,511 2,511

Balance at 31 December 2023  7,072 2,024,824 615 523 15,604 (20,020) 25,283 (1,032,234) 1,021,667

Balance at 1 January 2024  7,072 2,024,824 615 523 15,604 (20,020) 25,283 (1,032,234) 1,021,667
Loss for the year - - - - - - - (326,140) (326,140)

Other comprehensive income:

Impact of foreign exchange - - - - 12,175 - - - 12,175

Movement on hedging instruments - - - - - (16,114) 8,173 - (7,941)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year - - - - 12,175 (16,114) 8,173 (326,140) (321,906)

Issue of Ordinary Share capital 1,147 92,324 - - - - - - 93,471
Share-based payments 5 - - - - - - - 16,579 16,579

Deferred tax in equity - - - - - - - (2,653) (2,653)

Dividend in specie 9 - - - - - - - (501,331) (501,331)

Balance at 31 December 2024  8,219 2,117,148 615 523 27,779 (36,134) 33,456 (1,845,779) 305,827

 
 

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2024

Note
2024
£'000

2023
£'000

Cash flows from operating activities before adjusted cash flows  
Cash generated from operations 136,412 162,258
Income tax paid (621) (5,411)
Net cash generated from operating activities before adjusted cash flows 135,791 156,847
Cash flows relating to adjusted i tems (39,328) (15,040)
Net cash generated from operating activities 96,463 141,807

 
Cash flows from investing activities  
Acquis i tion of subs idiaries  net of cash acquired (23) (20,259)
Proceeds from sale of non-core freehold assets - 55,450
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (31,709) (46,289)
Purchase of intangible assets (69,571) (79,369)
Interest received 6 9,190 13,329
Net cash used in investing activities (92,113) (77,138)
Cash flows from financing activities  
Proceeds from issuance of Ordinary Shares  net of fees 93,319 -
Interest paid (44,954) (47,803)
Repayment of lease l iabi l i ties 15 (47,476) (49,487)
Repayment of bank borrowings  and loan fees (23,800) (25,000)

Net cash flow from financing activities (22,911) (122,290)
  
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (18,561) (57,621)
Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning of the year 416,162 473,783
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
(including cash held in disposal groups)

12 397,601 416,162

Cash and cash equivalents  held in disposal  group presented as  held for
distribution at the end of the year

9 88,979 -



distribution at the end of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 308,622 416,162
 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
 
1. Basis of Preparation
a. General information
TH G P LC (company number 06539496) is  a  publ ic company l imited by shares  and incorporated in England and Wales . I t
has  a  standard l i sBng on the London Stock Exchange and is  the holding company of the Group. The address  of i ts  registered
office is  I con 1 7-9 Sunbank Lane, Ringway, Altrincham, United K ingdom, WA15 0AF. The Company is  the parent and the
ulBmate parent of the Group, the financial  s tatements  comprises  the results  of the Company and i ts  subs idiaries  ("the
Group"). The financial  period presented here is  for the 12 months  ending 31 December 2024, and a prior period
comparative of the 12 months  ending 31 December 2023.
 
b. Basis of preparation
The consol idated financial  s tatements , have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted internaBonal  accounBng
standards  ("I F RS") and, as  regards  the parent company financial  s tatements , as  appl ied in accordance with the provis ions
of the Companies  Act 2006. The financial  s tatements  have been prepared on the historical  cost bas is , except for derivaBves
which are held at fa i r value.
 
The financial  informaBon included in this  prel iminary statement of results  does  not consBtute statutory accounts  within
the meaning of secBon 435 of the Companies  Act (the "Act"). These Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  of TH G
P LC and i ts  subs idiaries  apply the same accounBng pol icies , presentaBon and methods of calculaBon as  those fol lowed in
the preparaBon of the Group's  consol idated financial  s tatements  for the year ended 31 December 2022, which were
prepared in accordance with I nternaBonal  F inancial  ReporBng Standards  ('I F RS') as  i ssued by the I nternaBonal  AccounBng
Standards  Board and were also prepared in accordance with I F RS adopted by the European Union ('EU'), the Companies  Act
2006 and Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulations.
 
The statutory accounts  for the 12 months  ending 31 December 2024 were approved by the Board of Directors  on  28 Apri l
2025. The Auditors  of the Group made a report thereon under Chapter 3 or part 16 of the Act. This  report was  unqual ified
and does  not contain a  statement under sections  498 (2) or (3) of the Act.
 
The statutory accounts  for the 12 months  ending 31 December 2023 have been del ivered to the registrar of Companies , and
the I ndependent Auditors  of the Group made a report thereon under Chapter 3 or part 16 of the Act. This  report was
unqual i fied and does  not contain a  statement under sections  498 (2) or (3) of the Act.
 
The financial  s tatements  are presented in pounds sterl ing, rounded to the nearest hundred thousand unless  otherwise
stated. The Directors  cons ider i t appropriate to adopt the going concern bas is  of accounBng in preparing the financial
statements  of the Group.
 
The accounBng pol icies  adopted by the Group in the current year are cons istent with those adopted during the year ended
31 December 2023.
 
There have been no new or amended accounBng standards  or interpretaBons adopted during the year that have had a
s igni ficant impact on the Group's  financial  s tatements .
 
The Group is  currently reviewing the l ikely impact of I F RS 18 on i ts  statutory reporBng as  wel l  as  any potenBal  impact from
the amendments  to I F RS 9 and I F RS 7 in relaBon to credit and debit card payments  made by customers  which are receivable
from banks  and clear the bank shortly a]er the transacBon takes  place. There are no other standards, interpretaBons or
amendments  to I F RS that have been issued but are not yet effecBve that are expected to have a materia l  impact on the
Group's  financial  s tatements .
 
2. Segmental reporting and revenue
The Directors  have assessed the cri teria  and cons ideraBons under I F RS 8 O peraBng Segments  in order to idenBfy operaBng
segments  within the Group. For the year to 31 December 2023, the Group's  acBviBes  were divided into the fol lowing
segments: THG Beauty, THG Nutri tion, THG Ingenuity and Discontinued categories .
 
I n 2024, fol lowing successful  compleBon of the demerger of TH G I ngenuity on 2 January 2025, the TH G I ngenuity segment
has  been recognised in l ine with I F RS 5 Non-current Assets  Held for Sale and DisconBnued O peraBons. Refer to note 9 for
further detai l . O n this  bas is , the Directors  have concluded that for 2024, the Group has  three operaBng segments: TH G
Beauty, TH G NutriBon and DisconBnued categories . The prior year segmental  analys is  has  been re-presented to provide a
l ike-for-l ike comparison.
 
The fol lowing table describes  the main activi ties  for each reportable operating segment:
Segment Activities
THG Beauty A digi ta l -first brand owner, retai ler and manufacturer in the presBge beauty market, with a

porYol io of own brands across  skincare, haircare and cosmeBcs. Through i ts  retai l  websites ,
including LookfantasBc, Dermstore and Cult Beauty, i t i s  a  route to market global ly for third-
party premium brands.

THG Nutrition A group of digi ta l -first nutriBon brands, which includes  the world's  largest onl ine sports
nutriBon brand Myprotein and i ts  fami ly of brands (Myvegan, Myvitamins, M P  AcBvewear and
MyP RO ), with a  verBcal ly integrated bus iness  model  supported by global  TH G producBon
faci l i ties .

Discontinued
categories

DisconBnued categories  are, as  previous ly reported, certain loss-making categories  and
terri tories  within TH G Beauty and TH G NutriBon which fol lowing the ongoing strategic review,
has  led to the successful  exi t. These exits  do not meet the cri teria  under I F RS 5 DisconBnued
O peraBons at the balance sheet date, as  these categories  and terri tories  are not a  major
component of the Group as  defined by the accounBng standard; however, management report the
financial  results  of these categories  separately in their reporBng to the chief operaBng decis ion-
maker ("CODM"); as  such, the result has  a lso been shown in the same format within this  note.

Central  costs  relate primari ly to the P LC Board remuneraBon, profess ional  services  fees , Group finance, M&A, risk
(insurance) and governance costs  that are not recharged to the divis ions  as  they principal ly relate to the operaBons of the
PLC holding company.
 
The CO D M is  the execuBve Board directors , who make key operaBng decis ions  for the bus iness . The CO D M receives  dai ly
financial  informaBon at the combined Group level , a long with monthly informaBon at a  bus iness  level , and uses  this
information to a l locate resources, make operating decis ions  and monitor the performance of each of the bus inesses.
 
The measure of the Group's  profit or loss  used by TH G's  management team is  Adjusted EB I TDA compris ing operaBng loss
adjusted for interest, tax, depreciaBon, amorBsaBon, shared-based payments  and adjusted i tems. This  i s  reconci led to the
nearest IFRS measure (loss  before tax) in the below table.

FY 2024
ContinuingTHG THG Central Post Discontinued



Continuing
Operations

£'000

THG
Beauty
£'000

THG
Nutri tion

£'000

Central
PLC

£'000

Post
demerger

£'000

Discontinued
Categories

£'0002024
External  revenue 1,108,497 579,780 - 1,688,277 63,127 1,751,404
Internal  revenue - - - - - -
Total revenue 1,108,497 579,780 - 1,688,277 63,127 1,751,404
Adjusted EBITDA 79,785 34,538 (22,237) 92,086 (8,739) 83,347
Margin % 7.2% 6.0% - 5.5% (13.8%) 4.8%
Depreciation - - - - - (24,824)
Amortisation - - - - - (65,386)
Share-based payments - - - - - (16,579)
Adjusted i tems - - - - - (124,453)
Operating loss - - - - - (147,895)
Finance income - - - - - 9,049
Finance costs - - - - - (63,554)
Loss before taxation - - - - - (202,400)
Segment assets  and l iabi l i ties  are not disclosed because they are not regularly reported or reviewed by the Board.
 

FY 2023
Continuing
Operations

£'000

THG
Beauty
£'000

THG
Nutri tion

£'000

Central
PLC

£'000

Post
demerger

£'000

Discontinued
categories

£'0002023
External  revenue 1,073,304 657,911 - 1,731,215 148,651 1,879,866
Internal  revenue - - - - - -
Total revenue 1,073,304 657,911 - 1,731,215 148,651 1,879,866
Adjusted EBITDA 44,086 88,929 (21,757) 111,258 (8,143) 103,115
Margin % 4.1% 13.5% - 6.4% (5.5%) 5.5%
Depreciation - - - - - (24,059)
Amortisation - - - - - (69,958)
Share-based payments - - - - - (16,723)
Adjusted i tems - - - - - (31,607)
Operating loss - - - - - (39,232)
Finance income - - - - - 12,878
Finance costs - - - - - (65,898)
Loss before taxation - - - - - (92,252)
 
The segmental  result for 2023 has  been restated for the fol lowing:
 
·    TH G Beauty: TH G Luxury was  previous ly included in the TH G Beauty segment cons istent with management reporBng. As  i t

was  sold during the year, i t i s  now reported within disconBnued categories . There is  no change to the previous ly
reported total  revenue, Adjusted EBITDA, operating loss  or loss  before taxation.

 
The Group has  provided an analys is  of external  continuing revenue by region (by destination):

 2023
(restated1)

£'000
2024
£'000

UK 820,517 841,943
USA 362,874 343,052
Europe 362,489 401,910
Rest of the world 205,524 292,961

1,751,404 1,879,866
1.     Restated for discontinued operations (refer to note 9).
 
The Group's  non-current assets  by geography are as  fol lows:

2024
£'000

2023
£'000

UK 624,541 1,189,386
Europe 42,270 120,459
Rest of the world 385,728 475,744

1,052,539 1,785,589
 
3. Operating loss

 2023
(restated1)

£'000
2024
£'000Note

Operating loss  has  been arrived at after charging/(crediting):  
Adjusted i tems - cash 4 24,547 10,445
Adjusted i tems - non-cash 4 42,440 21,162
Adjusted i tems - non-cash impairment 4 57,466 -
Employee costs 142,253 123,770
Share-based payments 5 16,579 16,723
Depreciation on fixed assets 8 13,092 14,258
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 15 11,732 9,801
Amortisation 7 19,880 21,005
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 7 45,506 48,953
Net foreign exchange gain (37) (201)
1.     Restated for discontinued operations (refer to note 9).
 
4. Adjusted items
These are i tems which are materia l  in nature and include, but are not l imited to, costs  relaBng to acquis iBons, disposals
and s ignificant events  or programmes, some of which span mulBple years . These i tems are excluded from Adjusted EB I TDA
as management bel ieve their inclus ion distorts  the underlying trading performance. This  i s  cons istent with the way that
financial  performance is  measured by management and reported to the Board.

 2023
(restated1)

£'000
2024
£'000

Within cost of sales  
Loss  on disposal  of discontinued and the exiting of loss-making categories 24,742 10,465



Loss  on disposal  of discontinued and the exiting of loss-making categories 24,742 10,465
Inventory provis ion fol lowing strategic review and commercial  rebrand 8,820 4,786

33,562 15,251
Within distribution costs  
Transportation, del ivery and ful fi lment costs 1,268 1,846
Commiss ioning - new faci l i ties - 342

1,268 2,188
Within administrative costs  
Impairment of assets  - THG Experience 14,854 -
Impairment of assets  - discontinued categories 57,466 -
Loss  on property portfol io restructure 528 6,788
Loss  on disposal  of (or exi t from) discontinued and loss-making categories 259 4,498
Other costs  fol lowing the outcome of strategic review 172 152
Restructuring costs 5,582 2,184
Acquis i tions  - restructuring and integration 3,047 346
Onerous contracts 7,075 -
Other legal  and profess ional  costs 640 200

89,623 14,168
Total adjusted items before tax 124,453 31,607
Tax impact (5,095) (1,868)
Total adjusted items 119,358 29,739
Cash adjusting items before tax2 24,547 10,445
1.     Restated for discontinued operations (refer to note 9).
2.     Cash adjusting items before tax total £24.5m (2023: £10.5m) reflecting the total cash before tax expected to be paid.
 
Impairment of assets - THG Experience
The decis ion to pause refurbishment work on an asset within THG Experience has  led to an impairment charge in the year of
£14.9m, this  a lso includes  the expected cost of returning the property at the end of the term.
 
Impairment of assets - discontinued categories
Fol lowing the decis ion to disconBnue certain beauty brands an impairment has  been charged total l ing £57.5m against
affected assets .
 
Loss on disposal of discontinued and the exiting of loss-making categories
Consistent with the Group's  ongoing commitment to s impl i fy and streaml ine operaBons as  part of the strategic review of
loss making categories  and terri tories , several  acBons concluded in 2024. This  includes  the sale of i ts  porYol io of luxury
goods websites  (previous ly TH G Luxury) a long with some non-core brands and product offerings  across  TH G Beauty and
TH G NutriBon. This  has  resulted in an inventory provis ion adjustment within cost of sales  and asset impairments  within
administraBve costs  to reflect the recoverable value. These costs  are deemed to be one-off losses  to enable and complete
the exit of loss-making areas  of the bus iness . Associated income in respect of costs  aris ing for disconBnued categories  has
been set out in note 2. F Y 2023 reflects  costs  of the same nature fol lowing the sale of TH G O nDemand in July 2023 and
commencement of the strategic review.
 
Inventory provision following strategic review and commercial rebrand
I n H2 2023, Myprotein iniBated a comprehensive global  rebrand, reflecBng a pivotal  change in strategy aimed at
broadening the access ibi l i ty of i ts  products . The Group's  commitment to sustainabi l i ty, notably reducing waste,
underpinned this  phased rebrand which spanned several  months. This  a l lowed for the trade through of old brand
packaging and drove minimal  disposal  of stock. W here poss ible, s tock was sold through in l ine with this  strategy; however,
for i tems that could not be sold, primari ly clothing, a  one-off stock provis ion has  been recognised for disconBnued or
obsolete i tems as  part of adjusBng i tems, as  these costs  are not indicaBve of the Group's  underlying trade as  discounts
and markeBng expenses  associated with the clearance of associated stock would typical ly not be incurred and are not
expected to recur in 2025. The comparaBve pos iBon reflects  the strategic review in 2023 for TH G Beauty manufacturing,
where efficiencies  were idenBfied that would support long-term cost savings. Consistent with this , a  one-off provis ion was
recognised in the prior year in respect of inventory that i s  no longer required to drive forward the operations.
 
Transportation, delivery and fulfilment costs
The conflict in I srael  has  resulted in pressures  across  the internaBonal  network and travel  routes , with increased costs
being experienced as  the war conBnues, which are not ful ly passed on to customers. The Group conBnues to insulate the
customer from the ful l  impact of these ris ing costs , with the res idual  expense therefore being over and above those
incurred through the normal  course of bus iness . The Group was severely impacted by high surcharges  from suppl iers  in
respect of travel  routes  travel l ing through and into As ia  during the Covid-19 pandemic and extended lockdown periods. The
suppl ier surcharge has  not recurred in 2024.
 
Commissioning - new facilities
Consistent with i ts  strategic prioriBes, including warehouse opBmisaBon, the Group completed the commiss ioning of i ts
campus at Manchester Airport, UK  ("I con") in 2023. The warehouse is  now ful ly operaBonal  and no further costs  were
incurred in 2024.
 
Loss on property portfolio restructure
Fol lowing a Group review of properBes  held within i ts  porYol io, leased properBes  no longer in use have been sold or
repurposed. W here vacated properBes  are retained, unavoidable costs  relaBng to these s i tes  are incurred over the
remaining l i fe of the lease and wi l l  continue to be class i fied as  adjusted i tems.
 
Other costs following the outcome of strategic review
As part of the strategic review the Group has  consol idated acquired warehouses  into the exisBng TH G network. The costs
that have been incurred as  part of this  process  include costs  associated with the dual  running of faci l iBes  and other third-
party costs  such as  rent and uBl iBes. Al l  costs  recognised within adjusted i tems are from the point of management's
decis ion to exi t the acquired warehouse. These costs  are cons idered to be one-off costs  and are incremental  to the ongoing
trading of the Group. The majori ty of these costs  have now been incurred.
 
Restructuring costs
Consistent with the strategic review, the Group conBnues to explore and implement corporate restructuring and evolve i ts
internal  operaBons where sustainable a l ternaBves  are idenBfied. The costs  incurred are aZributable to employee-related
severance as  part of specific operaBonal  restructuring projects  as  efficiencies  are implemented across  the bus iness .
During 2024, given the nature of the programmes, addiBonal  costs  in respect of salary costs  for employees  within
consultaBon periods  and dual  running costs  were also included within adjusted i tems. The costs  of the restructuring
programme were offset by the annual ised saving within 6 months. These projects , and the costs  aZached, are expected to
be completed within a  12 month period.
 
Acquisitions - restructuring and integration
Costs  incurred relate to the integraBon of Biossance into the exisBng TH G network which was acquired in December 2023.
The nature of these costs  i s  cons istent with those set out under other costs  fol lowing the outcome of strategic review but



The nature of these costs  i s  cons istent with those set out under other costs  fol lowing the outcome of strategic review but
have been incurred from the point of iniBal  acquis iBon. Given the nature of these costs , i t i s  not unusual  for these to span
more than one accounBng period depending on the date of acquis iBon and the Bme required for the integraBon to be
completed. It i s  expected that the costs  wi l l  reduce in 2025.
 
Onerous contracts
The Group entered into a  sponsorship agreement in 2023 with W i l l iams racing which has  not del ivered the expected
commercial  returns, as  such, this  has  been idenBfied as  an onerous  contract. Under the terms of the sponsorship
agreement, the Group is  contractual ly obl igated to incur annual  fees  and terminaBon costs . NoBce of terminaBon has  been
provided, and the contract wi l l  be exi ted at the earl iest avai lable opportunity; 31 December 2025. The total  cost recognised
within adjusBng i tems includes  the costs  incurred from 1 January 2024 plus  any unavoidable commiZed costs  to 31
December 2025.
 
AddiBonal ly, the unavoidable costs  commiZed to an aborted implementaBon of a  Human Resources  enterprise reporBng
plaYorm (ER P ) have also been recognised as  an onerous  contract. The Group class ifies  these expenses  as  adjusted i tems,
as  they do not represent costs  incurred in the normal  course of bus iness .
 
Other legal and professional costs
The Group incurs  legal  and profess ional  costs  that are non-recurring, one-off in nature and not related to trading activi ties .
These costs  are included as  adjusted i tems and can include, but are not l imited to, legal  costs  for one-off maZers  and other
fees  associated with investor activi ties . The legal  and profess ional  costs  incurred during 2024 relate to the transfer to ESCC
category of the Officia l  List.
 
5. Share-based payments
Overview
The Group operates  a  share-based compensaBon plan, under which the Group receives  services  from employees  as
consideraBon for equity instruments  (opBons) of the Company. The fa ir value of the employee services  received in
exchange for the grant of the equity instruments  is  recognised as  an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome
with the corresponding increase to equity.
 
Previously issued plans
Senior leadership plan
Under the senior leadership plan (S LT P lan), share opBons of the parent are granted to senior execuBves  of the Company,
including members  of key management personnel . The awards  vest in three equal  tranches, annual ly on 31 December over
the three years  from grant date. Performance condiBons and targets  l inked to ES G are aZached to a  smal l  proporBon of the
awards  to a  smal l  number of parBcipants . The fa ir value of the share opBons is  the market price of the underlying shares
on the grant date. There are no cash seZlement a l ternaBves. The Group does  not have a past pracBce of cash seZlement for
these options. The Group accounts  for the SLT as  an equity-settled plan.
 
Employee plan
Under the employee plan, the Group, at i ts  discreBon, may grant share opBons of the parent to employees  other than senior
execuBves. The opBon awards  wi l l  vest in three equal  tranches  annual ly on 31 December over the three years  from grant
date, provided parBcipants  remain in conBnued employments  with the Company at each date. A smal l  number of shares
vested in ful l  on 31 December fol lowing issue. The fa ir value of the share opBons is  the market price of the underlying
shares  on the grant date.
 
The contractual  term of the share opBons is  three years  and there are no cash seZlement a l ternaBves  for the employees.
The Group does  not have a past pracBce of cash seZlement for these awards. The Group accounts  for the employee plan as
an equity settled plan.
 
Plans issued in the year
A total  of 33,574,120 shares  were issued in the 12 months  to 31 December 2024. The shares  issued during the year are as
fol lows:
 
·    O n 7 March 2024 a total  of 3,685,598 opBons were granted with 737,120 of these shares  only vesBng i f targets  l inked

to ESG are met. The remainder of the shares  vest in three equal  tranches  and are subject to performance based targets .
 
·    On 15 March 2024 a total  of 22,146,794 options  were granted. The vesting conditions  are as  fol lows:

·    20,376,943 awards  that vest in three equal  tranches, with the first being 31 December fol lowing the date of grant.
The second and third tranches  for each separate grant wi l l  vest on 31 December in the fol lowing two years
respectively;

·    1,680,852 awards, 560,284 of which vested on grant date, with the second tranche vesBng on 31 December 2024.
The third tranche wi l l  vest on 31 December 2025;

·    88,999 awards  that vested on 31 December 2024.
 

·    O n 1 August 2024 a total  of 3,653,846 opBons were granted with 730,769 of these shares  only vesBng i f targets  l inked
to ESG are met. The vesting cri teria  i s  the same as  that of the shares  issued on 7 March 2024.

 
·    On 30 August a  total  of 4,087,882 options  were granted. The vesting conditions  are as  fol lows:

·    2,196,973 awards  with 137,311 of these shares  only vesBng i f targets  l inked to ES G are met. The remainder of the
shares  vest in three equal  tranches  and are subject to performance based targets .

·     1,890,909 awards  with 1/24th vesting at the end of each month from September 2024.
 

2024
£'000

2023
£'000

Expense aris ing from equity-settled share-based payment transactions 16,579 16,723
 
The fol lowing table shows the shares  granted and outstanding at the beginning and end of the year:

 2024
Weighted
average

exercise price

2023
Weighted
average

exercise price

2024
Number
of shares

2023
Number

of shares
As  at 1 January 68,718,060 £0.04 41,796,012 £0.06
Granted during the year 33,574,120 £0.02 35,529,824 £0.01
Forfeited during the year (3,854,758) £0.00 (5,324,678) £0.00
Exercised during the year (9,982,528) £0.00 (3,283,098) £0.00
As at 31 December 88,454,894 £0.04 68,718,060 £0.03
Exercisable as  at 31 December 6,072,570 £0.00 19,975,803 £0.00

The key inputs  to calculate the charge are the share price at the date of grant and an assumpBon around those not
remaining in conBnued employment, spread across  the vesBng period. Achievement of performance condiBons has  been
considered where appropriate. The range of exercise prices  are £0.00 to £0.16, and the weighted average remaining
contractual  l i fe i s  8.3 years . The weighted average share price at date of exercise of shares  exercised during the year was



contractual  l i fe i s  8.3 years . The weighted average share price at date of exercise of shares  exercised during the year was
£0.60.
 
6. Finance income and cost

2023
(restated1)

£'000
2024
£'000

Finance income  
Bank interest receivable 9,049 12,878
Finance costs  
Bank interest payable and charges 61,968 64,672
Interest on lease l iabi l i ties 1,586 1,226

63,554 65,898
1.     Restated for discontinued operations (refer to Note 9).
 
7. Intangible assets

Platform
development

costs
£'000

Intel lectual
property

£'000

New product
development

£'000
Goodwi l l

£'000
Brands
£'000

Total
£'000

Cost or valuation       
At 1 January 2023 790,977 268,249 223,972 640,756 13,213 1,937,167
Transfers - - (1,627) 103 1,524 -
Additions - 60,775 19,988 83 798 81,644
Business  combinations 2,318 - 1,816 4,329 - 8,463
Currency trans lation (18,901) (199) (8,730) (17,606) (8) (45,444)
Disposals (1,175) (31,226) (24,078) (376) (310) (57,165)
At 31 December 2023 773,219 297,599 211,341 627,289 15,217 1,924,665
At 1 January 2024 773,219 297,599 211,341 627,289 15,217 1,924,665
Transfers - (1,278) 137 - 528 (613)
Additions - 50,046 14,474 591 3,043 68,154
Currency trans lation 1,266 19 1,663 1,941 (12) 4,877
Disposals (439) (18,285) (21,119) (1,499) (15) (41,357)
Transfers  to assets  held for
distribution

(86,896) (324,782) (33,343) (14,913) (4,893) (464,827)

At 31 December 2024 687,150 3,319 173,153 613,409 13,868 1,490,899
       
Accumulated amortisation       
At 1 January 2023 304,632 168,332 95,323 87,953 5,165 661,405
Transfers - 97 (130) 33 - -
Amortisation - 38,520 26,893 52,474 1,485 119,372
Impairment loss - 240 - - - 240
Currency trans lation (1,651) 766 (5,418) (2,437) (2) (8,742)
Disposals - (30,853) (23,468) (362) (310) (54,993)
At 31 December 2023 302,981 177,102 93,200 137,661 6,338 717,282
At 1 January 2024 302,981 177,102 93,200 137,661 6,338 717,282
Amortisation - 43,725 29,555 36,661 2,558 112,499
Currency trans lation 392 (4) 1,086 370 (14) 1,830
Reclass i fication - - 15,468 (15,468) - -
Disposals (428) (17,684) (19,762) (2,099) (15) (39,988)
Impairment loss  (net) 40,521 - - 15,770 - 56,291
Transfers  to assets  held for
distribution

(85,483) (199,925) (24,620) (3,235) (2,074) (315,337)

At 31 December 2024 257,983 3,214 94,927 169,660 6,793 532,577
 
Net book value

      

At 1 January 2023 486,345 99,917 128,649 552,803 8,048 1,275,762
At 31 December 2023 470,238 120,497 118,141 489,628 8,879 1,207,383
At 31 December 2024 429,167 105 78,226 443,749 7,075 958,322

The reclass i fication l ine relates  to the reclass  of amortisation charges  between appropriate intangible asset categories .
 
The impairment charge has  been explained within note 4 and the CFO Report.
 
8. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold
freehold

improvements
and bui ldings

£'000

Computer
Motor

vehicles
£'000

Plant and
machinery

£'000

Fixtures equipment
and fi ttings and software Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
Cost       
At 1 January 2023 2,317 143,100 141,393 118,719 123,719 529,248
Additions 111 11,209 6,707 12,224 2,829 33,080
Business  combinations - - 8 11 19 38
Transfers - 5,430 (37,869) 3,009 29,430 -
Currency trans lation di fferences - (302) 743 (532) (515) (606)
Disposals (165) (6,474) (4,117) (281) (45,875) (56,912)
At 31 December 2023 2,263 152,963 106,865 133,150 109,607 504,848
At 1 January 2024 2,263 152,963 106,865 133,150 109,607 504,848
Additions 137 11,935 8,712 7,053 2,474 30,311
Transfers 39 1,878 (3,698) 2,289 1,041 1,549
Currency trans lation di fferences - (332) (783) 142 (33) (1,006)
Disposals (116) (2,349) (1,345) (780) (874) (5,464)
Transfer to assets  held for
distribution

(1,893) (109,492) (83,062) (124,692) (42,431) (361,570)

At 31 December 2024 430 54,603 26,689 17,162 69,784 168,668

Accumulated depreciation       



Accumulated depreciation       
At 1 January 2023 1,587 43,103 36,399 54,881 33,237 169,207
Depreciation (note 3) 340 14,494 13,489 21,310 6,058 55,691
Impairment loss - 1,064 987 115 10,950 13,116
Currency trans lation di fferences - (342) 232 (581) (187) (878)
Disposals (170) (1,949) (51) (257) (3,032) (5,459)
At 31 December 2023 1,757 56,370 51,056 75,468 47,026 231,677
At 1 January 2024 1,757 56,370 51,056 75,468 47,026 231,677
Depreciation (note 3) 178 17,857 13,984 18,134 4,155 54,308
Transfers - 8 (8) - - -
Impairment loss - 7,328 - - 155 7,483
Currency trans lation di fferences - (92) (224) 100 (50) (266)
Disposals - (2,347) (1,212) (780) (494) (4,833)
Transfer to asset held for
distribution

(1,773) (47,492) (42,213) (83,675) (9,438) (184,591)

At 31 December 2024 162 31,632 21,383 9,247 41,354 103,778

Net book value
At 1 January 2023 730 99,997 104,994 63,838 90,482 360,041
At 31 December 2023 506 96,593 55,809 57,682 62,581 273,171
At 31 December 2024 268 22,971 5,306 7,915 28,430 64,890
 
9. Discontinued operations
O n 17 September 2024, the Group announced i ts  intenBon to demerge TH G I ngenuity from TH G P LC into an independent
private company. Shareholder approval  was  obtained on 27 December 2024 and, therefore, the Group bel ieved that i t was
highly probable that the transacBon would complete within 12 months  from the date of the announcement. Therefore, TH G
I ngenuity was  class ified as  a  disposal  group held for distribuBon and disconBnued operaBons from that date. Upon
demerger, TH G I ngenuity included TH G Experience, which had previous ly been reported as  part of the TH G Beauty segment.
The demerger successful ly completed on 2 January 2025.
 
The results  of THG Ingenuity for the year are presented below:

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Total  revenue 654,768 685,383
Internal  revenue1 (462,858) (519,871)
External revenue 191,910 165,512
Cost of sales (142,392) (122,595)
Gross profit 49,518 42,917
Administrative costs (155,949) (171,414)
Other operating expense - (17,664)
Operating loss (106,431) (146,161)
Finance income 141 451
Finance costs (14,550) (14,002)
Loss before taxation (120,840) (159,712)
Income tax (charge)/credit (24,767) 19,302
Loss for the financial year (145,607) (140,410)
1.     Internal revenue is eliminated at Group level in the current year but will be recognised as external revenue within TH G

Ingenuity from the next financial year, following the demerger on 2 January 2025.
 
THG Ingenuity - Adjusted EBITDA

2024 2023
Notes £'000 £'000

Operating loss (106,431) (146,161)
Adjustments  for:  
Amortisation 7 44,703 47,824
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 7 2,411 1,590
Depreciation 8,15 68,407 71,054
Adjusted i tems - cash A 19,211 5,346
Adjusted i tems - non-cash a 2,736 13,674
Other operating expense - non-cash loss  on disposal  of freehold assets - 17,664
Adjusted EBITDA 31,037 10,991
 
a. THG Ingenuity - Adjusted items

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Within administrative costs  
Transportation, del ivery and ful fi lment costs 160 609
Commiss ioning - new faci l i ties 273 2,263
Restructuring costs 10,694 524
Loss  on property portfol io restructure 956 12,433
Loss  on disposal  of (or exi t from) discontinued and loss-making categories - 1,504
Other costs  fol lowing the outcome of strategic review 932 1,329
Acquis i tions  - restructuring and integration 1,064 358
Onerous contracts 7,868 -
Total adjusted items before tax 21,947 19,020
Tax impact (2,574) (1,140)
Total adjusted items 19,373 17,880
Cash adjusting items before tax 19,211 5,346
 
Transportation, delivery and fulfilment costs
The conflict in I srael  has  resulted in pressures  across  the internaBonal  network and travel  routes , with increased costs
being experienced as  the war conBnues, which are not ful ly passed on to customers. The Group conBnues to insulate the
customer from the ful l  impact of these ris ing costs , with the res idual  expense therefore being over and above those
incurred through the normal  course of bus iness .
 
Commissioning - new facilities
Consistent with strategic prioriBes, the Group has  completed i ts  commiss ioning of i ts  campus in New Jersey, US. The 2024
costs  relate to the final  stages  of commiss ioning that were required to enable the warehouse to be ful ly operaBonal  and
work at optimised levels . No further costs  are expected to be incurred.



work at optimised levels . No further costs  are expected to be incurred.
 
Restructuring costs
Consistent with the strategic review, the Group conBnues to explore and implement corporate restructuring and evolve i ts
internal  operaBons where sustainable a l ternaBves  are idenBfied. As  part of this , the costs  incurred are aZributable to
employee related severance as  part of specific operaBonal  restructuring projects  as  efficiencies  are implemented across
the bus iness . During 2024, given the nature of the programmes, addiBonal  costs  in respect of salary costs  for employees
within consultation periods  and dual  running costs  were also included within adjusted i tems.
 
AddiBonal ly, costs  were incurred in execuBng the demerger of TH G I ngenuity, which le] the Group on 2 January 2025. These
projects , and the costs  attached, are expected to be completed within a  12-month period.
 
Loss on property portfolio restructure
Fol lowing a Group review of properBes  held within i ts  porYol io, leased properBes  no longer in use have been sold or
repurposed. W here vacated properBes  are retained, unavoidable costs  relaBng to these s i tes  are incurred over the
remaining l i fe of the lease and wi l l  continue to be class i fied as  adjusted i tems.
 
Loss on disposal of discontinued and the exiting of loss-making categories
The comparative pos ition reflects  adjustments  fol lowing the sale of THG OnDemand in July 2023.
 
Other costs following the outcome of strategic review
As part of the strategic review the Group has  consol idated acquired warehouses  into the exisBng TH G network. The costs
that have been incurred as  part of this  process , include:
 
·    Those incurred to relocate the stock across  the ful fi lment network.
·    Restructuring costs  associated with the dual  running of faci l iBes , severance payments  and other third-party costs  such

as  rent and uti l i ties .
 
Al l  costs  recognised within adjusted i tems are from the point of management's  decis ion to exi t the acquired warehouse.
These costs  are cons idered to be one-off costs  and are incremental  to the ongoing trading of the Group. The majori ty of
these costs  have now been incurred.
 
Acquisitions - restructuring and integration
The costs  during the year relate to pre-acquis iBon seZlement costs  that arose before the acquis iBon of a  subs idiary and
has  been class ified as  an adjusted i tem as  they relate to legacy maZers  predaBng the Group's  ownership. These costs  are
considered non-recurring in nature and do not form part of the Group's  underlying operaBng performance. The seZlement
was final ised in 2024 and no further related costs  are expected to be incurred in 2025.
 
The 2023 costs  are in relation to the integration of Ci ty AM that was  acquired in July 2023.
 
Onerous contracts
The Group entered into a  sponsorship agreement in 2023 with W i l l iams racing which has  not del ivered the expected
commercial  returns, as  such, this  has  been idenBfied as  an onerous  contract. Under the terms of the sponsorship
agreement, the Group is  contractual ly obl igated to incur annual  fees  and terminaBon costs . NoBce of terminaBon has  been
provided, and the contract wi l l  be exi ted at the earl iest avai lable opportunity; 31 December 2025. The total  cost recognised
within adjusBng i tems includes  the costs  incurred from 1 January 2024 plus  any unavoidable commiZed costs  to 31
December 2025.
 
The major classes  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  class i fied as  held for distribution as  at 31 December are as  fol lows:

31 December
2024
£'000

Assets  
Intangible assets 149,490
Property, plant and equipment 176,979
Right-of-use assets 232,222
Investments 1,400
Deferred tax asset 2,705
Inventories 8,370
Trade and other receivables 101,924
Other financial  assets 300
Cash and cash equivalents 88,979
Total assets held for distribution 762,369
Liabilities  
Lease l iabi l i ties 267,929
Provis ions 21,795
Deferred tax l iabi l i ty 503
Contract l iabi l i ty 12,236
Current tax l iabi l i ty 219
Trade and other payables 286,990
Total liabilities held for distribution 589,672
Net assets directly associated with distribution group 172,697
Amounts included in reserves directly associated with disposal group (3,155)
 
The net cash flows incurred by discontinued operations  were as  fol lows:

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Operating 18,113 (20,201)
Investing (80,290) (49,257)
Financing (35,785) (27,099)
Net cash outflow (97,962) (96,557)
 
b. THG Ingenuity - Related party transactions
The amounts  recognised within the major classes  of assets  and l iabi l iBes  class ified as  held for distribuBon in relaBon to
the leases  with Propco for discontinued operations  in the year are as  fol lows:

2024
£'000

Right-of-use asset 18,784
Lease l iabi l i ty 23,920
 
The amounts  recognised within the results  of TH G I ngenuity in relaBon to the leases  with P ropco for disconBnued



The amounts  recognised within the results  of TH G I ngenuity in relaBon to the leases  with P ropco for disconBnued
operations  in the year are as  fol lows:

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Depreciation aris ing on right-of-use assets 7,117 7,780
Expense recognised in financing costs 5,274 6,145
Impairment aris ing on property plant and equipment - 9,663
 
The table below gives  further detai l  around the leases  in place for discontinued operations:

Res idual
lease

2024

term date Rent
Number of properties divestment £'000
10 0-4 years 8,383
2 18-24 years 1,700
12 10,083
 
Fair value assessment of dividend liability
Under I F R I C  17 'D istribuBons of Non-cash Assets  to O wners ', a  l iabi l i ty to pay a  non-cash dividend is  measured at the fa ir
value of the assets  and l iabi l iBes  to be distributed when the dividend is  appropriately authorised and i t i s  no longer at the
enti ty's  discretion. The assets  and l iabi l i ties  to be distributed are the THG Ingenuity bus iness .
 
The dividend l iabi l i ty was  cons idered to be appropriately authorised on 27 December 2024 fol lowing shareholder
approval  and has  been recognised within the statement of financial  pos iBon at 31 December 2024. The seZlement of the
dividend l iabi l i ty took place on the date of the demerger on 2 January 2025.
 
The resulBng gain on demerger wi l l  therefore be recognised within the F Y 2025 financial  s tatements . This  gain is  calculated
as  the difference between the fa ir value and the book value of the aZributable net assets . As  this  i s  a  materia l , non-
recurring transaction, i t wi l l  be recognised within adjusted i tems.
 
We have determined the fa ir value of the TH G I ngenuity bus iness  by cons idering the requirements  within I F RS 13 'Fair value
measurement'. We concluded that there was not an observable market price avai lable for the stand-alone TH G I ngenuity
bus iness  on the bas is  that i t was  part of a  larger l i s ted Group prior to demerger and became a private l imited company
post-demerger.
 
The uncertainBes  over future cashflows meant that this  was  best achieved by cons idering the underlying assets  and
l iabi l iBes  as  a  bas is  for then comparing to s imi lar market transacBons and valuaBons. Therefore, the fa ir value of TH G
I ngenuity has  instead been derived us ing a  combinaBon of the valuaBon techniques  outl ined in I F RS 13 being; the market
approach, the cost approach and the income approach.  The measurement of the dividend l iabi l i ty i s  a  level  3 fa i r value
measurement. The materia l  assets  and l iabi l iBes  which were valued to assess  the overal l  value of the bus iness  are as
fol lows:
 
Asset/ liability Method Key assumptions Hierarchy
Intangible assets Primari ly relating to the

capital ised platform
development costs

Valued on a replacement cost
bas is  (us ing the cost

approach)

·     Total  hours  and number of
developers  to rebui ld the

platform
·     Rates  per hour

 

Level  3

If the total  hours  to or number of
developers  to rebui ld the

platform, or the rate per hour
increased / decreased by +5% / -
5% the fa ir value would change

by +/- c.£17m respectively.

 
Property, plant and
equipment

Primari ly relating to fi t-out of
ful fi lment centres  including

special is t automation
equipment.

 
Valued on a market approach

·     Benchmarking of cost to
s imi lar fi t outs  and special is t

equipment
·     Condition and location of

assets
·     Useful  economic l ives

 

Level   2

Right-of-use assets Valued on a market approach ·     Market rents  for s imi lar
properties

 

Level   2

Working capital assets
and liabilities

Valued on a l ine by l ine bas is ·     Recoverabi l i ty of trade and
other receivables

·     Net real isable value of
inventories

·     Completeness  of trade and
other payables

·     Cash and cash equivalents
were cons idered to be carried

at their fa i r value given the
nature of the balance

Level   2

 
I n determining the fa ir value, s ignificant judgement exists  in relaBon to the valuaBon techniques  used and s ignificant
esBmaBon exists  in relaBon to the key inputs  into the models . Therefore, a  fa i r value range was calculated. This  range is
sens itive to changes  made to the key inputs  described above.
 
W hen concluding on an appropriate fa i r value within that range we cons idered the valuaBon derived in the context of
al ternaBve data sources, such as  relevant mulBples  on revenue and earnings. This  resulted in the fol lowing transacBon
values:
 

£'000
Fair value of THG Ingenuity 501,331
Carrying value of net assets  and l iabi l i ties  distributed (note 9) 172,697
Intercompany receivable due from THG plc1 121,457
Gain to be recognised on 2 January 2025 within THG PLC 207,177
1.     The carrying value of the net assets and liabili;es held for distribu;on excludes intergroup balances that are eliminated on

consolida;on. The carrying value of assets distributed as part of the TH G Ingenuity business will also include £121m of
intergroup receivables.

 
I t i s  important to highl ight that this  fa i r value has  been prepared on a different bas is  to the valuaBon of TH G I ngenuity
reported in the Shareholder C ircular. The valuaBon reported in the Board-approved Shareholder C ircular was  based on a
pro-rata of the market capital isaBon of the l i s ted Group, resulBng in an £88 mi l l ion valuaBon. This  valuaBon is  not an



pro-rata of the market capital isaBon of the l i s ted Group, resulBng in an £88 mi l l ion valuaBon. This  valuaBon is  not an
observable market price and as  such, was  not in l ine with the requirements  of I F RS 13. These two valuaBons are prepared
on di fferent bases  and therefore are not comparable.
 
 
10. Inventories

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Goods held for resale 200,533 225,600
Raw materia ls 60,301 67,427
Goods in trans it 4,537 4,116

265,371 297,143
 
 
Goods  i n tra ns i t re l a te  to goods  whos e  control  i s  s Bl l  to be  tra ns fe rre d to the  cus tome rs  a s  of the  re porBng da te . The  cos t
of i nve ntori e s  re cogni s e d a s  a n e xpe ns e  a nd i ncl ude d i n cos t of s a l e s  a mounte d to £1,017.1m (2023: £1,015.5m). The  va l ue  of
i nve ntori e s  wri Ze n down a nd re cogni s e d a s  a n e xpe ns e  i n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  i n the  ye a r wa s  £38.5m
(2023: £20.4m) i ncl udi ng a djus te d i te ms . Wi thi n goods  he l d for re s a l e  i s  a  £1.3m (2023: £2.4m) ri ght to re cove r a s s e t whi ch
re pre s e nts  the  ca rryi ng va l ue  of i nve ntory e xpe cte d to be  re ce i ve d ba ck from cus tome rs  a s  re turns .
 
11. Trade and other receivables

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Trade receivables 34,578 110,912
Less: loss  a l lowance (1,122) (2,056)
Net trade receivables 33,456 108,856
Prepayments 13,253 28,483
Accrued income 22,875 36,428
Other taxation and socia l  securi ty 40,374 59,185
Other receivables 37,314 38,830

147,272 271,782
Trade and other receivables  are principal ly denominated in sterl ing.
 
12. Cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Cash and cash equivalents 308,622 416,162
Cash and cash equivalents  of £89.0m that le] the Group on demerger have been class ified as  held for distribuBon at 31
December 2024. See note 9 for more information.
 
Cash and cash equivalents  includes  amounts  receivable of £1.8m (2023: £3.5m) from banks  and £9.9m (2023: £16.7m)
from payment providers , for credit and debit card transacBons. Such amounts  clear the bank shortly a]er the transacBon
takes  place.
 
13. Trade and other payables

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Trade payables 246,035 368,855
Accruals 69,007 182,922
Other taxation and socia l  securi ty 27,485 82,351
Government grants - 2,343
Contingent cons ideration on acquis i tions - 1,879

342,527 638,350
 
14. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Current  
Bank borrowings 112,785 29,026
Lease l iabi l i ties 10,293 43,537

123,078 72,563
Non-current  
Bank borrowings 491,782 621,011
Lease l iabi l i ties 31,077 301,440

522,859 922,451

Bank borrowings  relate predominantly to the seven-year euro term loan B, undrawn five-year revolving credit faci l i ty and
an incremental  faci l i ty. The revolving credit faci l i ty i s  provided by Barclays , H S BC, Santander, C iBbank, NatWest and JP M.
The term loan B carried an interest rate of 4.50% plus  EUR I BO R and the revolving credit faci l i ty's  interest rate is  S O NI A. This
loan is  provided by the Group's  exisBng lenders  and carries  a  base rate of Dai ly R F R (S O NI A). The floaBng element of the
term loan B is  hedged by interest rate derivaBves. Management note that EUR I BO R is  being reformed as  a  benchmark rate
and are in dia logue with i ts  lending and hedging partners  to minimise the impact on the Group as  trans iBon occurs . I f
interest rates  moved by 100bps, the Group's  loss  before tax would be c.£5.1m higher/lower (2023: c.£7.3m) and the
subsequent move on the derivaBve valuaBon would cause equity to be c.£7.3m higher/lower (2023: c.£15.5m) as  a  result of
the same move. Post year end, the Group refinanced i ts  faci l i ties .
 
Net debt cons ists  of loans  and lease l iabi l iBes , less  cash and cash equivalents . For the purpose of the Group's  net debt
calculaBon, loans  that are denominated in foreign currency are trans lated at the effecBve hedged rate where appl icable.
Net debt is  an al ternaBve performance measure and is  not defined under I F RS. A reconci l iaBon to the most directly
comparable IFRS measure is  included below:

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Loans and other borrowings (604,567) (650,037)
Lease l iabi l i ties (41,370) (344,977)
Cash and cash equivalents 308,622 416,162
Sub-total (337,315) (578,852)
Adjustments:  
Retrans late debt balance at swap rate where hedged by foreign exchange derivatives (8,306) 15,653
Net debt (345,621) (563,199)
Net debt before lease liabilities (304,251) (218,222)



Net debt before lease liabilities (304,251) (218,222)
 
15. Leases
Set out below are the carrying amounts  of the right-of-use assets  recognised and movements  during the period:

Motor Plant and Land and
vehicles machinery bui ldings Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
As at 1 January 2023 210 164 293,935 294,309
Additions 1,920 (3) 59,475 61,392
Depreciation (note 3) (568) (45) (38,809) (39,422)
Lease modifications 98 - (10,377) (10,279)
Currency trans lation di fferences (4) (3) (2,358) (2,365)
As at 31 December 2023 1,656 113 301,866 303,635
As at 1 January 2024 1,656 113 301,866 303,635
Additions - - 25,057 25,057
Depreciation (note 3) (614) (45) (38,263) (38,922)
Lease modifications (3) - (18,531) (18,534)
Disposals - - (213) (213)
Transfers - - (950) (950)
Currency trans lation di fferences (4) (1) (1,147) (1,152)
Impairment - - (7,372) (7,372)
Transfer to assets  held for distribution (807) (35) (231,380) (232,222)
As at 31 December 2024 228 32 29,067 29,327
 
Set out below are the carrying amounts  of lease l iabi l i ties  and the movements  during the period:

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

As at 1 January 344,977 334,376
Additions 15,950 56,708
Accretion of interest 15,867 14,641
Payments (47,476)  (49,487)
Lease modifications (17,864)  (8,864)
Disposals (213) -
Currency trans lation di fferences (1,942) (2,397)
Transfer to l iabi l i ties  held for distribution (267,929) -
As at 31 December 41,370 344,977
Current 10,293 43,537
Non-current 31,077 301,440
 
The Group had total  cash outflows for leases  of £47.5m in 2024 (2023: £49.5m).
 
The fol lowing are the amounts  recognised in the year in the consol idated statement of comprehensive income:

 2023
2024 (Restated)1

£'000 £'000
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 11,732 9,801
Interest expense on lease l iabi l i ties 1,558 1,226

13,290 11,027
1.     Restated for discontinued operations (refer to note 9).
 
16. Earnings per share
The fol lowing table reflects  the income and share data used in the bas ic and di luted EPS calculations:

2023
2024 (Restated)1

Loss  for the financial  year - continuing operations  (£'000) (180,533) (107,962)
Loss  for the financial  year - discontinued operations  (£'000) (145,607) (140,410)
Total loss for the financial year (£'000) (326,140) (248,372)
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares  for bas ic EPS 1,368,632,7731,296,925,602
Basic and diluted EPS (£'s) (0.24) (0.19)
Bas ic and di luted EPS - continuing operations  (£'s ) (0.13) (0.08)
Bas ic and di luted EPS - discontinued operations  (£'s ) (0.11) (0.11)
1.     Restated for discontinued operations (refer to note 9).
 
In 2024, i f the impact of impairment charges  in the year was  removed, the Bas ic and Di luted EPS would have been £(0.19).
 
The bas ic loss  per share has  been calculated by dividing the loss  aZributable to the Group by the weighted average number
of O rdinary Shares  in issue. Earnings  per share has  been calculated with respect to total  loss  for the year for the Group,
including both continuing and discontinued operations  (see note 9).
 
The di luted loss  per share has  been calculated by adjusBng the weighted average number of shares  for the effects  of the D,
E, F and G Shares  assuming ful l  vesting of a l l  potentia l ly di lutive shares.
 
Bas ic and di luted earnings  per share are equal  s ince the effect of a l l  potenBal ly di luBve shares  outstanding was anB-
di lutive.
 
17. Related Party Transactions
The Directors ' interests  in the Ordinary Share capital  of the Company at the balance sheet date are detai led below:

Ordinary Ordinary
Shares Shares
2024 2023

£ per share Number Number
M J Moulding 0.005 269,702,708 249,294,545
M J Moulding 1.000 360 360
J A Gal lemore 0.005 4,216,826 4,216,826
J A Gal lemore 1.000 3,174 3,174
D Sanders 0.005 487,487 21,926
C Al len 0.005 2,942,000 2,400,000
G Kent 0.005 53,600 -
D Moore 0.005 53,143 -



D Moore 0.005 53,143 -
S Farr 0.005 171,743 67,397
H Jones 0.005 134,084 -
I  McDonald1 0.005 2,691,419 2,505,943

280,456,544 258,510,171
1.     I McDonald stepped down from the Board on 31 March 2024.

 
I n addiBon to the shareholdings  noted above, the Directors  had the fol lowing interests  in vested shares  issued under
previous  incentive arrangements  at the balance sheet date. These shares  carry no voting rights .

2024 2023  
Subscription/ Subscription/  

Date of exercise priceexercise price 2024 2023
award £ £ Number Number

M J Moulding Dec-19 0.23 0.23 43,641,266 43,641,266
M J Moulding Aug-20 0.33 0.33 20,197,808 20,197,808
M J Moulding Aug-20 0.28 0.28 7,733,792 7,733,792
J A Gal lemore Dec-19 0.23 0.23 185,476 185,476
J A Gal lemore Aug-20 0.33 0.33 2,666,963 2,666,963
J A Gal lemore Aug-20 0.28 0.28 4,000,537 4,000,537
I McDonald1 Dec-19 0.23 0.23 - 185,476

 78,425,842 78,611,318
1.     I McDonald stepped down from the Board on 31 March 2024.
 
De ta i l s  of unve s te d a wa rds  gra nte d to the  Di re ctors  unde r the  2024 LTIP s che me  a re  provi de d i n the  Di re ctors ' Re mune ra ti on
Re port.
 
In 2024, the  Group ha s  provi de d i nte re s t fre e  l oa ns  to the  Di re ctors  of £0.6m (2023: none ) for the m to s ubs cri be  for s ha re s  a s
pa rt of the  e mpl oye e  be ne fit s che me  whi ch re ma i n outs ta ndi ng a t the  ba l a nce  s he e t da te . A furthe r £0.3m of i nte re s t-fre e
l oa ns  provi de d i n pre vi ous  ye a rs  for the  s a me  purpos e  a l s o re ma i ns  outs ta ndi ng a t the  ba l a nce  s he e t da te .
 
The  Group ha s  i n pl a ce  a n a gre e me nt on comme rci a l  te rms  wi th Moul di ng Ca pi ta l  Li mi te d to provi de  prope rty, fa ci l i Be s  a nd
proje ct ma na ge me nt s e rvi ce s  to the  e nBty a nd i ts  s ubs i di a ri e s . Thi s  a gre e me nt ge ne ra te d £235,382 (2023: £307,720) for the
Group, re cogni s e d wi thi n a dmi ni s tra ti ve  e xpe ns e s .
 
Pri or to the  IPO whi ch took pl a ce  i n Se pte mbe r 2020, THG di ve s te d the  Propco Group, a n e nBty now whol l y owne d by the
Group's  CEO. The  Propco Group owns  prope rty a s s e ts  occupi e d a nd uti l i s e d by THG a nd i ts  ope ra ti ng bus i ne s s e s .
 
The  a mounts  re cogni s e d on the  Group's  ba l a nce  s he e t i n re l a ti on to the  l e a s e s  wi th Propco for conti nui ng ope ra ti ons  i n the
ye a r a re  a s  fol l ows :

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Right-of-use asset 12,742 154,682
Lease l iabi l i ty 24,025 174,457
 
The amounts  recognised on the Group's  statement of comprehensive income in relaBon to the leases  with P ropco for
continuing operations  in the year are as  fol lows:

2024 2023
£'000 £'000

Depreciation aris ing on right-of-use assets 2,764 2,286
Expense recognised in financing costs 991 1,052
Impairment aris ing on property, plant and equipment 7,372 -
 
The table below gives  further detai l  around the leases  in place for continuing operations:

Res idual
lease

FY 2024

term date Rent
Number of properties divestment £'000
5 0-4 years 470
10 9-10 years 1,770
1 18-24 years 650
16  2,890
Refer to Note 9 for further detai ls  on related parties  in relation to discontinued operations.            
 
 
 

[1]CCY defined as constant currency basis

[2]
YoY defined as year-on-year statutory sales growth

[3]
Lfl revenue (c.-3%) is adjusted for Easter, leap year phasing and for Beauty territories where the model has been substantially changed (Asia and Europe)

[4]
The non-GAAP measure which is defined as Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Amortisation, share-based payments, adjusting items and discontinued categories

in respect of THG Beauty and THG Nutrition net of central costs.

[5]
The non-GAAP measure which is defined as Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Amortisation, share-based payments, adjusting items and discontinued categories

in respect of THG Beauty, THG Nutrition and THG Ingenuity net of central costs.

[6]
Including £89.0m of cash held for distribution to THG Ingenuity.



[6]
Including £89.0m of cash held for distribution to THG Ingenuity.

[7]
YouGov Brand Tracking, February 2025. Almost 1 in 4 UK consumers in our target audience spontaneously name Myprotein when asked to name a sports nutrition brand.

Myprotein is the most preferred brand among 12 UK sports nutrition brands measured.

[8]
Excluding discontinued categories

[9]	All numbers and tables subject to rounding throughout this report.
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